Emotion reactivity in chronic primary insomnia: Neural correlates and relationship with

responses to cognitive-behavioural therapy for insomnia

Kirsten Ka Mon Gong

A Thesis

in

The Department

of

Psychology

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Master of Arts (Psychology) at

Concordia University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

July 2022

© Kirsten Ka Mon Gong, 2022

CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

School of Graduate Studies

This is to certify that the thesis prepared

By: Kirsten Ka Mon Gong

Entitled: Emotion reactivity in chronic primary insomnia: Neural correlates and relationship with responses to cognitive-behavioural therapy for insomnia

and submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts (Psychology)

complies with the regulation of the University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the final examining committee:

 Dr. Kristen Dunfield
 Chair

 Dr. Linda Booij
 Examiner

 Dr. Marie-Hélène Pennestri
 Examiner

 Dr. Thien Thanh Dang-Vu
 Thesis Supervisor(s)

 Dr. Thesis Supervisor(s)
 Thesis Supervisor(s)

Approved by

Dr. Kristen Dunfield

Chair of Department or Graduate Program Director

2022

Dr. Pascale Sicotte

ABSTRACT

Emotion reactivity in chronic primary insomnia: Neural correlates and relationship with responses to cognitive-behavioural therapy for insomnia

Kirsten Ka Mon Gong

Individuals with chronic insomnia have trouble falling or staying asleep, wake up earlier than desired, and have daytime complaints. Some individuals also have difficulty regulating their emotions, especially in response to sleep-related stimuli. Cognitive-behavioural therapy for insomnia (CBTi), the gold-standard treatment for insomnia, has been shown to improve sleep. But, it is still unclear if CBTi impacts the neural activations underlying emotional reactivity in adults with insomnia and if emotion reactivity plays a role in CBTi treatment response. Thus, the first aim of this study was to investigate brain activity, using functional magnetic resonance imaging, during an emotion reactivity task in adults with insomnia and healthy sleepers. Secondly, we examined the effects of CBTi on brain activity during this emotion task in adults with insomnia. Lastly, we determined if brain activity at baseline was predictive of CBTi treatment response. While no differences in brain activity in response to sleep relative to neutral images were found between adults with insomnia and healthy sleepers at baseline, different patterns of activation in response to negative relative to neutral images were observed. Furthermore, after CBTi, adults with insomnia had reduced activity within the left insula and superior temporal gyrus in response to sleep relative to neutral images. But, there were no changes in affect. Lastly, brain activity in response to sleep relative to neutral images at baseline did not predict improvements in sleep. Overall, these findings contribute to the growing literature about sleep and emotions in adults with insomnia.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my research supervisor, Dr. Dang-Vu, for his unwavering support, guidance, feedback, and insight throughout my academic journey. Thank you for giving me the freedom to pursue my research interests at the SCN Laboratory and for continually providing me with so many amazing opportunities. I would also like to extend my deepest gratitude to Dr. Florence Pomares. I am incredibly appreciative of your mentorship, extensive feedback, time, patience, and support. From the bottom of my heart, thank you for teaching me everything that I know about MRI and for revising all my drafts. I would like to express my appreciation to Dr. Aurore Perrault for providing me with feedback and for her support. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Linda Booij and Dr. Marie-Hélène Pennestri, for their invaluable feedback and suggestions. Thank you to the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Concordia University, and Center for Studies in Behavioral Neurobiology (CSBN) for financially supporting this thesis. I would like to thank all members at the SCN Laboratory along with the participants who contributed to this research project. I would like to thank the MRI technician, Antonys Melek, who helped acquire the MRI data. Finally, a special thanks goes to my loved ones (especially KG and MP) for their moral support. This thesis would not have been possible without you all.

Contribution of Authors

Kirsten Ka Mon Gong did the literature review, performed statistical analyses in R, created tables and figures in R, wrote the drafts of the manuscript, created the survey on Amazon MTurk, trained participants on the emotion reactivity task, helped acquire the MRI data, checked the quality as well as preprocessed the MRI data, wrote second-level analysis scripts, and cleaned all measures acquired from sleep diaries and questionnaires. Dr. Thien Thanh Dang-Vu and Dr. Florence Pomares assisted with revisions of the thesis by providing feedback as well as editing or proofreading the manuscript. Dr. Florence Pomares and Dr. Aurore Perrault created the emotion reactivity task on PsychoPy, wrote scripts on MATLAB to preprocess and analyze the MRI data, and contributed to data collection. Lukia Tarelli was involved in coordinating the data collection and screening participants.

Table of Contents

List of Figures	<i>x</i>
List of Tables	xi
Introduction	
Insomnia and Emotion	1
Models of Insomnia	
Self-Reported Ratings of Stimuli	4
Emotional Brain Network	5
Brain Responses to Emotional Stimuli	7
Emotion Regulation in Insomnia	
Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia	9
Predictors of CBTi Treatment Response	
Objectives and Hypotheses	
Methods	
Study Design	
Participants	
Targeted Sample Size	
Inclusion Criteria	
Exclusion Criteria	
Measures	

Emotion Reactivity Task	
Visual Stimuli	
Insomnia Severity Index	
Sleep Diaries	
Positive Affect Negative Affect Schedule	
MRI Data Acquisition	
MRI Processing	
First-Level Analyses: Individual Analyses	
Second-Level Analyses	
Emotion Reactivity in Insomnia	
Therapists	
Duration of Insomnia Symptoms	
Effect of CBTi	
Prediction of Treatment Response	
Valence Ratings	
PANAS	
Results	
Data Integrity	
Participant Characteristics	
Subjective Sleep Measures	
ISI	

Sleep Diaries	32
PANAS	32
Valence Ratings	33
Objective 1: Insomnia vs. Good Sleepers at Baseline	34
Activity in Response to Emotional Pictures Within the Amygdala	34
Activity in Response to Emotional Pictures Within the Whole Brain	35
Objective 2: Immediate Treatment vs. Wait-List Control Groups (Baseline vs. V2).	39
Activity in Response to Sleep-Related Pictures Within the Amygdala	39
Activity in Response to Sleep-Related Pictures Within the Whole Brain	39
Objective 3: Neural Predictors of Treatment Response	45
Left Angular Gyrus and Treatment Response	45
Left Middle Frontal Gyrus and Treatment Response	49
Discussion	53
Sleep and CBTi	53
Affect	54
Effects of CBTi on Affect	55
Valence Ratings of Emotional Pictures	55
Effects of CBTi on Valence Ratings	57
Brain Activity to Emotional Pictures	58
Effects of CBTi on Brain Activity	61

Neural Predictors of Treatment Response6	53
Limitations	65
Strengths	65
Future Directions	56
Conclusion	57
References	58
Appendix A: Valence, Arousal, and Sleep Ratings for Sleep-Related Images Obtained from th	ie
Amazon Mechanical Turk Survey 8	34
Appendix B: Cronbach's Alpha Coefficients	35
Appendix C: Subjective Sleep Data Between Groups	36
Appendix D: Positive and Negative Affect Data9	<u>)</u> 9
Appendix E: Valence Ratings Data10)3
Appendix F: Activated Brain Regions in Response to Images Relative to Baseline	12
Appendix G: Data about Brain Activity Predicting Change in Subjective Sleep Measures 13	33

List of Figures

Figure 1 Protocol of the Study	17
Figure 2 Schematic of the Emotion Reactivity Task	. 20
Figure 3 Brain regions that are more activated in good sleepers compared to participants with	
insomnia in response to negative relative to neutral images at V1	. 36
Figure 4 Statistically significant group by visit interaction on activity within the left insula and	t
superior temporal gyrus	. 42
Figure 5 Left insular activity between the insomnia groups at V1 and V2	. 43
Figure 6 Left superior temporal gyrus activity between the insomnia groups at V1 and V2	. 44
Figure 7 Brodmann area 39 (BA39) activity predicting change in total ISI scores	. 47
Figure 8 Brodmann area 6 (BA6) activity predicting change in total ISI scores	51

List of Tables

Table 1 Valence, arousal, and sleep ratings for images in each version of the emotion reactivity
task
Table 2 Demographic data of each group 31
Table 3 Clusters statistically significantly more activated in good sleepers compared to
participants with insomnia in response to negative vs. neutral images at V1
Table 4 Activated brain regions in response to sleep relative to neutral images
Table 5 Results for BA39 Activity Predicting Change in Total ISI Scores With an Interaction. 46
Table 6 Results for BA39 Activity Predicting Change in Total ISI Scores Without an Interaction
Table 7 Results for BA6 Activity Predicting Change in Total ISI Scores With an Interaction 50
Table 8 Results for BA6 Activity Predicting Change in Total ISI Scores Without an Interaction

Emotion reactivity in chronic primary insomnia: Neural correlates and relationship with responses to cognitive-behavioural therapy for insomnia

Introduction

Adequate amount of sleep and good sleep quality are crucial for numerous reasons, including maintenance of cognitive and emotional health. Emotions are important because they impact our perception, attention, learning, memory, reasoning, and problem-solving (Tyng et al., 2017). Emotions include different components, such as subjective experiences as well as behavioural and physiological responses (American Psychological Association, 2007). Subjective experiences can be evaluated through self-reported feelings and behavioral responses can be evaluated with facial expressions, body movements, or posture (Dael et al., 2012, as cited in Tyng et al., 2017; Jack & Schyns, 2015, as cited in Tyng et al., 2017). Physiological responses, such as electrical or hemodynamic responses of the central nervous system, can be measured using neuroimaging techniques (Vytal & Hamann, 2010) among other techniques. For example, responses of the autonomic nervous system (e.g., heart rate) can be measured with biosensors (Li & Chen, 2006, as cited in Tyng et al., 2017). As it is more challenging for individuals to consciously hide or alter their physiological responses, these responses may be more representative of an individual's emotional state compared to the subjective or behavioural responses (Tyng et al., 2017).

Insomnia and Emotion

Although sleep deprivation can temporarily affect one's cognitive functioning or mood, this can become a bigger issue when sleep problems are prolonged (Toschi et al., 2021). Therefore, sleep disorders, such as insomnia disorder, may be a model to examine emotion regulation difficulties. Chronic primary insomnia is a sleep disorder that is characterized by difficulty falling asleep, difficulty staying asleep, and/or early awakenings with daytime complaints that occur at least three times per week for a minimum duration of three months. Some of the daytime complaints that are associated with nighttime sleep are mood disturbances and irritability (American Academy of Sleep Medicine [AASM], 2014). These characteristics are also not caused by substances nor medical or psychiatric conditions (Riemann et al., 2010).

Mood disturbances as well as emotion regulation difficulties are prevalent in individuals with insomnia. For instance, Buysse and colleagues (2007) found that individuals with primary insomnia reported having more negative mood in comparison to good sleepers. Adults with insomnia also had more emotion regulation difficulties than sex- and age-matched good sleepers (Galbiati et al., 2020). Although adults with insomnia did not have difficulty recognizing their emotions, their confidence in emotion regulation skills was remarkedly lower compared to good sleepers. For instance, patients with insomnia who had poorer subjective sleep quality (as measured using the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI), which is a self-reported measure to assess subjective sleep parameters) tended to have more negative affect (assessed using the Positive Affect and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS), which is a self-reported measure to examine positive and negative emotions; Dong et al., 2017; Watson et al., 1988). Similarly, patients with insomnia who had greater self-reported insomnia severity also tended to have more self-reported emotion dysregulation (Palagini et al., 2017). Additionally, emotion dysregulation was a mediator in the relation between low resilience, a predisposing factor of psychopathology, and cognitive hyperarousal prior to sleep, a perpetuating factor of insomnia, in individuals with insomnia (Palagini et al., 2018). This provides additional evidence that there is a relation between emotion regulation difficulties and sleep disturbances in patients with insomnia.

Although there is a link between emotion dysregulation and sleep disturbances, researchers have also studied the direction of this relation. Indeed, several studies provided support that the relation between emotions and sleep is bidirectional (Altena et al., 2016; Kahn et al., 2013; Talbot et al., 2012; Zakiei et al., 2020). But, there are few studies that have shown an unidirectional effect or a bidirectional effect whereby one direction was stronger than the other. For instance, in a study with depressed and healthy participants, better sleep quality was predictive of better positive affect the following day. Poorer sleep quality was also predictive of greater negative affect the following day. However, fluctuations in positive or negative affect did not predict fluctuations in sleep quality the following day (Bouwmans et al., 2017). Narmandakh et al. (2021) showed that the effect of daytime affect on sleep the following night was not as strong as the effect of sleep on affect the following day. In a longitudinal study, Jansson-Fröjmark and colleagues (2016) found that greater emotion dysregulation over time increased one's risk of experiencing insomnia in the future. Yet, there is evidence that chronic insomnia more often precedes mood disorders or cooccurs rather than appears following the onset of a mood disorder (Johnson et al., 2006; Ohayon & Roth, 2003).

Models of Insomnia

A prominent model of insomnia, which was developed by Spielman and colleagues (1987), is the 3P model of insomnia. They proposed that three factors contribute to the onset and maintenance of insomnia. Firstly, there are predisposing factors (e.g., genetic predisposition), which increase one's risk for experiencing sleep disturbances. Then, there are precipitating factors (e.g., acute, stressful events or situations, such as losing a job or a loved one), which lead to the onset of insomnia. Lastly, there are perpetuating factors (e.g., unhealthy sleep habits, such as longer time spent in bed, irregular sleep-wake schedules, or frequent napping, or even excessive worrying about daytime impairments), which are involved in maintaining this disorder over an extended period of time even after the stressful event or situation dissipates (Spielman et al., 1987; Wright et al., 2019).

There are other models that exist to explain how insomnia is developed or maintained and how emotions may specifically act as a precipitating or perpetuating factor. For instance, Kales and colleagues (1976) proposed the internalization of conflicts model of insomnia to explain the role that emotions can have on the onset and maintenance of insomnia. In this model, it is thought that individuals with insomnia develop this fear of sleeplessness over time due to both enhanced emotional and physiological arousal. This fear can give rise to heightened emotional arousal, which then leads to difficulty falling or staying asleep. Thus, emotional arousal appears to play a role in the onset and maintenance of insomnia disorder. Moreover, Harvey (2002) proposed the cognitive model of insomnia to explain how primary insomnia was maintained. Throughout the day or in bed, individuals may engage in excessive worrying or rumination about sleep and the effects that it can have on their health or level of daytime functioning. These negative thoughts can generate feelings of anxiety or emotional distress. Those feelings can promote selective attention to sleep-related threat cues. Individuals can also automatically monitor their body sensations or the environment for sleep-related threats. If they identify a sleep-related threat, this can lead to excessive worrying or rumination once again. Although emotional arousal may play a role in the onset and maintenance of insomnia, cognitive processes should also be taken into consideration to better understand patients' sensitivity toward sleep-related stimuli.

Self-Reported Ratings of Stimuli

Individuals with insomnia tend to have greater arousal and may be more sensitive to negative sleep-related images compared to good sleepers. Baglioni and colleagues (2010a) looked

at how individuals with primary insomnia and good sleepers rated images that were sleep-related or unrelated to sleep. In terms of valence ratings, all participants provided different valence ratings for the neutral images than the negative images. Furthermore, individuals with insomnia subjectively reported that negative sleep-related images were just as unpleasant as negative images that were unrelated to sleep. However, individuals with normal sleep subjectively reported that the negative images that were unrelated to sleep were more unpleasant than the negative sleep-related images. With respect to arousal, all participants provided different arousal ratings for the neutral images than the negative images. Nevertheless, images were overall rated as more arousing in individuals with insomnia compared to good sleepers. Additionally, individuals with insomnia provided similar arousal ratings for negative images that were not sleep-related and negative images that were sleep-related. On the contrary, good sleepers found the negative images that were not sleep-related to be more arousing than the negative images that were sleep-related. Although subjective experiences can be used to evaluate how individuals with insomnia respond to emotional stimuli, hemodynamic responses associated with the neural circuitry underlying emotions can also be examined objectively.

Emotional Brain Network

There are two neural systems that are associated with recognizing the emotional significance of a stimulus, producing an emotional state, and regulating the emotional state. The ventral system is important for recognizing the emotional significance of a stimulus, producing an emotional state in response to the stimulus, and regulating autonomic responses to emotional stimuli. It is comprised of the amygdala, insula, ventral striatum, ventral part of the anterior cingulate cortex, and ventral portion of the prefrontal cortex. In particular, the amygdala is involved in identifying the emotional significance of a stimulus as well as in producing emotional

states and behaviours (Phillips et al., 2003). David and Whalen (2001, as cited in Phillips et al., 2003) also stated that the amygdala is involved in modulating attention to emotionally salient stimuli. Based on functional neuroimaging studies, the insula is activated while individuals anticipate aversive stimuli (Phelps et al., 2001). Its activity has also been linked to emotional states while individuals encounter emotional stimuli (Casey et al., 1996, as cited in Altena et al., 2016; Charney & Drevets, 2002, as cited in Altena et al., 2016). The ventral striatum has been involved in craving (Breiter et al., 1996), reward processing (Pagnoni et al., 2002), and reward anticipation (Knutson et al., 2001). Based on functional neuroimaging studies, the ventral portion of the anterior cingulate cortex has been suggested to be activated during positive and negative mood induction (Mayberg et al., 1999; Shin et al., 2000) or in the presence of rewards (Elliott et al., 2000). Ventral portions of the prefrontal cortex, such as the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex, have been activated during tasks that involve negative mood induction (Shin et al., 2000), emotional stimuli (Reiman et al., 1997), or negative facial expressions (Sprengelmeyer et al., 1996).

The dorsal system is critical for regulating emotional states or behaviours. This system includes the hippocampus, dorsal part of the anterior cingulate cortex, and the dorsal portion of the prefrontal cortex (Phillips et al., 2003). The hippocampus is involved in the promotion as well as prevention of defensive behaviours or anxiety in contexts that may be considered threatening (Gray & McNaughton, 2000). The dorsal regions of the anterior cingulate cortex are involved in attention to emotional states (Lane et al., 1998) as well as effortful control of arousal that is related to emotional states (Raichle et al., 1994). The dorsal regions of the prefrontal cortex are activated during tasks that involve directing attention away from emotional aspects of stimuli or toward the context that the stimuli are presented in (Tucker et al., 1995).

Brain Responses to Emotional Stimuli

Based on functional neuroimaging studies, individuals with insomnia seem to have elevated emotion reactivity for images that were negative and especially those that are insomniarelated compared to good sleepers. Although difficulties in processing emotional information, as reflected by elevated amygdala activity in response to emotional stimuli, have been implicated in social anxiety (Hattingh et al., 2013), posttraumatic stress (El Khoury-Malhame et al., 2011), and borderline personality disorders (Hazlett et al., 2012), the study by Baglioni and colleagues (2014) was the first one that used functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to investigate whether amygdala activity in response to visual stimuli that were either related or unrelated to insomnia differed between participants with insomnia and good sleepers. In terms of arousal, individuals with insomnia and good sleepers had greater amygdala activity while viewing negative images with high arousal levels than negative images with moderate arousal levels. In terms of valence, individuals with insomnia had similar amygdala activity while viewing negative images and neutral images with the same arousal levels. However, good sleepers had greater amygdala activity while viewing negative images than neutral images with the same arousal levels. In terms of sleep content, individuals with insomnia had greater amygdala activity while viewing negative images related to insomnia compared to negative images that were not sleep-related. However, good sleepers had more amygdala activity while viewing negative images that were not sleep-related compared to insomnia-related images. Although some individuals with insomnia seem to have this selective attention to sleep-related stimuli, which may be implicated in the maintenance of the sleep disorder (Espie et al., 2006, as cited in Spiegelhalder et al., 2018), there was no difference in brain activity in response to sleep-related words between adults with primary insomnia and good sleepers (Spiegelhalder et al., 2018). Therefore, there is greater attentional bias as well as enhanced

brain activity in response to negatively valenced sleep images rather than sleep-related words in adults with primary insomnia compared to good sleepers. Nevertheless, different techniques can be implemented to help these individuals regulate their emotions.

Emotion Regulation in Insomnia

Emotion regulation is the ability to modify the valence, intensity, and duration of one's emotion (Gross, 1998, as cited in Gross, 2014). Emotion regulation is essential because it enables individuals to acquire a desired emotional state to think or behave in a beneficial way (Tamir, 2016). Adaptive emotion regulation strategies consist of cognitive reappraisal, which involves changing how one views a situation in order to modify their emotions (Samson & Gross, 2012, as cited in Gross, 2014). The use of cognitive reappraisal has been linked to positive outcomes, such as the tendency to have and to express more positive emotions as well as to have better well-being (Gross & John, 2003). Maladaptive emotion regulation strategies include expressive suppression (Aldao et al., 2010). As expressive suppression does not minimize the experiential response, individuals will still experience the negative emotion. This negative emotion can last for a while or continue to arise if it is not dealt with (Gross & John, 2003). Indeed, negative emotions can play a role in sleep disturbances, especially when they are experienced before bedtime (Cerolini et al., 2015). The use of expressive suppression has been associated with other negative outcomes, such as the tendency to have and to express fewer positive emotions as well as have a decline in wellbeing (Gross & John, 2003). Furthermore, the inability to properly regulate emotions (i.e., emotion dysregulation) can lead to abnormal emotional reactivity (i.e., low or high emotional reactivity). In other words, it can negatively impact how individuals respond to emotional information (Derryberry & Reed, 2003, as cited in Baglioni et al., 2010b). After encountering a stressful stimulus, emotion dysregulation can make it difficult for cognitive or physiological responses to

return to baseline (Galbiati et al., 2020). In the context of insomnia, this is problematic because these maladaptive strategies have consequences on health and well-being (Carver et al., 1989, as cited in Aldao et al., 2010; Folkman & Lazarus, 1980, as cited in Aldao et al., 2010).

Given that mood disturbances or emotion regulation difficulties associated with sleep are common in patients with insomnia, it is important to identify effective interventions that may not only work to improve their sleep but may also indirectly enhance their mood through improvements in sleep. Although sleep medications can be prescribed to help individuals with their sleep difficulties, they often have side effects, especially when taken long term (van der Zweerde et al., 2019). Therefore, alternative interventions are more favourable and safer for individuals who have chronic primary insomnia (Sharma & Andrade, 2012).

Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia

Given the importance of targeting the cognitive and behavioural components that play a role in the maintenance of insomnia, the first line of the treatment for insomnia is cognitivebehavioural therapy for insomnia (CBTi). CBTi is a psychological intervention that targets maladaptive behaviours and beliefs about sleep that are prevalent in individuals with insomnia. In order to optimize their sleep using behavioural techniques, these individuals learn how to practice sleep restriction. Sleep restriction helps to optimize sleep efficiency, which is computed as the ratio between the total time spent asleep and the total time spent in bed multiplied by 100 and gives some indication as to how well an individual has slept. This particular technique consists of reducing the overall amount of time spent in bed as much as possible to the amount of time spent sleeping by consistently following a fixed sleep schedule. There is also stimulus-control therapy whereby individuals are instructed to select a fixed bed and wake time, go to bed only when they are tired, leave the bed if they cannot sleep, or refrain from taking naps during the day (Anderson, 2017; Morin, 2006; Pigeon, 2010; Shrivastava et al., 2014). To deal with their maladaptive thoughts or beliefs about sleep, they also receive cognitive therapy. For instance, with the help of a trained expert, individuals can properly address and restructure their beliefs. Thus, their excessive worrying about sleep is minimized prior to bedtime. CBTi also consists of information about sleep hygiene through psychoeducation: information about environmental factors that are suitable or harmful for sleep, such as light, noise, temperature, and bedding; about substance use; and about healthy habits that can ameliorate sleep, such as dieting and exercise (Sharma & Andrade, 2012). CBTi also includes muscle relaxation or imagery techniques to ease their body tension and racing thoughts, respectively. CBTi can be administered to one individual at a time or to a group (Anderson, 2017). Approximately 50% of chronic insomniacs are CBTi responders, i.e., they show clinically significant decreases in insomnia symptoms after the intervention, while roughly one-third of insomniacs achieve remission after CBTi (Morin et al., 1999).

Although the purpose of CBTi is to improve sleep in individuals with insomnia, there are components of CBTi that seem to affect emotions or neural circuits underlying emotions. For example, as cognitive therapy can help individuals to manage their excessive worries about sleep prior to bedtime, this method is expected to diminish their thoughts that are filled with negative emotions (e.g., intrusive thoughts about sleep) during bedtime (Baglioni et al., 2010b). CBTi decreases resting-state functional connectivity between the left amygdala and left lingual gyrus (Lee et al., 2018). This suggests that these changes in the neural circuit underlying emotions following CBTi may be linked to heightened arousal of sensory information, as the lingual gyrus is a brain region that has been associated with processing visual information. Based on the cognitive model of insomnia that was proposed by Harvey (2002), Dong and colleagues (2017) suggested that negative affect may be reduced in patients with insomnia if their sleep quality

improves. Thus, CBTi may have additional benefits aside from contributing to sleep improvements in individuals with insomnia.

There is evidence that suggests that, following CBTi, there are changes in brain activity associated with the visualization of sleep-related versus neutral images. In a study by Kim and colleagues (2017), participants with insomnia and healthy sleepers were presented with a total of 28 sleep-related or neutral, non-sleep related images within a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scanner. They were then instructed to press a button on the left with their left thumb if a given image was not sleep-related or to press a button on the right with their right thumb if it was sleeprelated. Kim et al. (2017) reported that, prior to CBTi, participants with insomnia had enhanced blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) response in regions, such as the precentral cortex, left prefrontal cortex, and posterior cingulate cortex while identifying that a stimulus was sleep-related compared to good sleepers. After receiving CBTi, the BOLD response in the precentral and prefrontal cortices decreased while selecting that a stimulus was sleep-related (i.e., BOLD response to sleep stimuli minus BOLD response to neutral stimuli) in individuals with insomnia. However, Kim et al. (2017) did not evaluate subjective responses (i.e., valence ratings) to neutral, negative, and sleep-related stimuli in conjunction with fMRI brain responses toward these stimuli, which is one of the main focuses of the current study. Perhaps if insomnia is targeted with CBTi, this will be followed by improvements in emotion reactivity both subjectively and objectively, especially toward sleep-related stimuli.

Predictors of CBTi Treatment Response

CBTi is usually provided over four or more one-hour long sessions that occur weekly or bi-weekly. Thus, some individuals with sleep disturbances view this therapy as more timeconsuming and less practical than taking medications to improve sleep. Indeed, the dropout rate for CBTi was reported to be around 10 to 40% (Ong et al., 2008). In addition to the cost of the intervention, another downside that limits its accessibility is the long wait times before the intervention is delivered by a trained CBTi practitioner (Koffel et al., 2018). As previously stated, even after completing the sessions, around 50% of them will be CBTi responders, while roughly one-third will be in remission (Morin et al., 1999).

As the degree of CBTi treatment response is variable in patients with insomnia and as it is clinically useful to identify individuals who may or may not benefit from CBTi given its time commitment, cost, accessibility, and effectiveness, different predictors of CBTi treatment response have been proposed or identified (Morin et al., 1999). For instance, subtypes of insomnia may be indicative of CBTi treatment response. Blanken and colleagues (2019) used latent class analysis to identify subtypes of insomnia. These subtypes were derived from participants' response patterns on questionnaires about sleep, life history, fatigue and arousal, personality, mood, and happiness. They found that individuals in the moderately distressed but reward sensitive group, meaning that they had intact responses to positive emotions, subjectively reported having less difficulty falling asleep after receiving CBTi compared to a wait-list control group. Those in the moderately distressed but reward sensitive group also had decreased total Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) scores, reflecting subjectively fewer or less severe insomnia symptoms, compared with the waitlist control group. Similarly, the slightly distressed with high reactivity to their environment and life events group had decreased total ISI scores after receiving CBTi compared with the wait-list control group. But, the slightly distressed with high reactivity to their environment and life events group did not subjectively report having less difficulty falling asleep after receiving CBTi compared to the wait-list control group (Blanken et al., 2019). Based on Blanken and colleagues' (2019) study, this may indicate that individuals with insomnia who are highly reactive to their

environment, perhaps even their sleep environment, may still have difficulty initiating sleep just as much as individuals with insomnia who are still awaiting CBTi treatment. On the contrary, individuals with insomnia who are less reactive to their environment may have less insomnia symptoms after CBTi. Furthermore, following CBTi, patients with chronic primary insomnia who had less positive affect, as measured by the PANAS, had greater improvements in sleep, as assessed by the PSQI, than patients with more positive affect (Van Houdenhove et al., 2011). Although there are mixed findings regarding affect or emotions, they may have an influence on treatment response in individuals with insomnia and should be further investigated.

Despite the growing recognition of the importance of the relation between emotions and sleep, it is still unclear if CBTi may beneficially affect emotion regulation and consequently impact the neural activations underlying emotion reactivity in adults with chronic primary insomnia. As prior studies did not integrate subjective responses of negative, neutral, and sleep-related stimuli and brain responses toward these stimuli, further research is needed to better understand the effectiveness of CBTi on emotion reactivity subjectively and objectively using fMRI. Additionally, the role that emotion reactivity plays for treatment response in individuals with chronic primary insomnia is unclear.

Objectives and Hypotheses

The three main aims of the current study are the following:

- To examine fMRI brain responses to negatively valenced images in adults with chronic primary insomnia and healthy sleepers.
- 2. To investigate the effects of CBTi on brain activation during the emotion reactivity task in adults with chronic primary insomnia.

 To determine if brain activation while viewing sleep-related images during the emotion task at baseline was predictive of CBTi treatment response (i.e., improvement in sleep, as assessed by the ISI) in adults with chronic primary insomnia.

Based on past literature, we hypothesized the following:

- 1. At baseline, adults with chronic primary insomnia would have greater amygdala activity while rating sleep-related images during an emotion reaction task compared to the healthy sleepers. On the other hand, adults with chronic primary insomnia would have less amygdala activity while rating negative images compared to the healthy sleepers.
- 2. Following CBTi, participants with chronic primary insomnia would have decreased amygdala activity relative to baseline while rating sleep-related images during the emotion reaction task. Participants who received immediate treatment would also have decreased amygdala activity while rating sleep-related images during the emotion task compared to the participants with insomnia in the wait-list control condition.
- 3. Lastly, based on Blanken et al.'s (2019) study, less amygdala activity (reflecting less emotion reactivity) while rating sleep-related pictures during the emotion task at baseline would predict better treatment response (i.e., improvement in sleep, as assessed by the ISI) among individuals with chronic primary insomnia.

Methods

Study Design

This study is part of a larger research project in which a randomized controlled trial design was implemented to investigate neuroimaging biomarkers of treatment response to cognitivebehavioural therapy for chronic insomnia. However, the first aim of this current study was to examine brain activity during an emotion reactivity task in adults with chronic primary insomnia (i.e., an immediate treatment group and a wait-list control group) relative to a group that was composed of good sleepers. The second aim was to investigate the effects of CBTi on brain activity during an emotion reactivity task in adults with chronic primary insomnia. The third aim was to examine if brain activity could predict sleep improvements in these adults following CBTi.

As shown in Figure 1, participants with chronic primary insomnia were screened for eligibility at the different steps of the study (phone screening, intake interview). All eligible participants were then scheduled for their first overnight visit at the sleep laboratory, which was called V0. During this visit, they completed online self-report questionnaires about their sleep, mood, and health habits. In order to screen participants out for periodic limb movement and sleep apnea, polysomnography was performed. After this visit, they completed sleep diaries in the morning as well as wore a Philips Actiwatch 2 device for 14 days in order to assess their sleep objectively and to be able to make comparisons with their subjective sleep parameters.

Eligible participants were scheduled for their second overnight visit (i.e., V1), which consisted of neuroimaging and sleep assessments. They first received training on the emotion reactivity task on a computer and then performed one version of the emotion reactivity task within an MRI scanner. In the evening after the MRI, they completed online self-report questionnaires about their sleep and psychological state. Additionally, polysomnography was performed. The

following morning, participants were then randomized to either the immediate treatment group (TX) or the wait-list control (WL) group. The individualized CBTi consisted of eight sessions with a trained psychologist or expert over a 12-week period. After completing the CBTi sessions, participants in the immediate treatment group returned to the laboratory for their second neuroimaging assessment (i.e., V2). However, participants in the wait-list control group returned to the laboratory for their second neuroimaging assessment after a 12-week wait period. The protocol for V2 was identical to V1 (i.e., neuroimaging, online questionnaires, polysomnography, actigraphy, sleep diaries). After V2, participants in the wait-list control group then received individualized CBTi. In order to assess the efficacy of the CBTi treatment, the wait-list control group completed self-report questionnaires at home after completing their CBTi sessions (i.e., V3). They also completed sleep diaries and wore a Philips Actiwatch 2 device for 14 days. A year after receiving CBTi (i.e., one-year follow-up), all participants with insomnia then completed online questionnaires. They also filled out sleep diaries for 14 days. The protocol for the good sleepers was identical, except that they were only scheduled for the first two overnight visits (i.e., V0 and V1) and did not complete sleep diaries nor wear the Actiwatch device following V1. All participants signed an informed consent form. Upon completion, the participants were financially compensated for participating in the study. This project received ethical approval from the Comité central d'éthique de la recherche du ministère de la santé et des services sociaux.

Participants

Targeted Sample Size

The overall targeted sample size for the larger research project entails 80 adults with chronic primary insomnia and 40 good sleepers. However, the targeted sample size for the current

Figure 1

Protocol of the Study



project was at least 10 participants per group. Hence, we aimed to have at least 20 participants with insomnia and at least 10 good sleepers.

Inclusion Criteria

Adults with insomnia were eligible to participate in the study if they met the following diagnostic criteria for insomnia disorder from the third edition of the International Classification of Sleep Disorders (AASM, 2014): difficulty falling asleep, difficulty staying asleep, and/or experienced early awakenings at least three times per week for at least three months. They had to have complaints of daytime impairment that were associated with their sleep difficulties, such as mood disturbances or impaired attention.

Adults with normal sleep were eligible to participate as control participants if they did not have any sleep complaints and if they did not meet the aforementioned criteria for insomnia.

Exclusion Criteria

Individuals were not eligible to participate in the study if they were younger than 25 years old or older than 65 years old. They could not have any medical conditions that can affect their sleep, major cardiovascular events or interventions, or other sleep disorders. Individuals were not eligible if they had night shifts or rotating shift for more than two weeks in the past three months. They were excluded if they had cognitive impairment (i.e., dementia) or severe mental disorder (i.e., psychotic disorders, anxiety disorder, major depressive disorder). They were not eligible if they consumed more than 10 glasses of alcohol per week or smoked more than 10 cigarettes per day. Women were not eligible if they were pregnant or breastfeeding. If individuals were receiving psychotherapy or were using hypnosedatives or medication for depression or anxiety, they were excluded because these treatments can be confounding variables with the CBTi intervention and

the fMRI responses. Adults were also ineligible if they had any counterindications to MRI, such as metallic implants or claustrophobia.

Measures

Emotion Reactivity Task

To assess emotion reactivity and its neural correlates in insomnia, participants completed an emotion reactivity task in the MRI scanner. Emotion reactivity can be measured by presenting an individual with an emotional stimulus and then evaluating threshold, peak intensity, or duration of one's emotional response (Derryberry & Reed, 2003, as cited in Baglioni et al., 2010b). Nevertheless, in this study, the average intensity was the only component of interest. As presented in Figure 2, participants viewed images and provided valence ratings of images that varied, in terms of their valence and arousal, while changes in brain activity in response to these images was measured using fMRI. The task was presented using the standalone PsychoPy version 3.0.7 and lasted 13 minutes. To avoid any practice effects when the task was repeated at V2, two versions of the emotion reactivity task were used. Each version included different images. To minimize order effects, the order was also counterbalanced across participants. Overall, there were 20 trials for each category: neutral, negative, or sleep-related. For each trial, an image belonging to one of the three categories was presented for three seconds. This was followed by a fixation cross for 1.7 seconds on average, ranging from 1 to 3 seconds. A rating scale then appeared for five seconds along with the following question: "To what extent the image elicits a negative emotion?" Response options ranged from 1 (not negative) to 5 (very negative). Another fixation cross was displayed for 3.2 seconds on average, ranging from 1.5 to 12 seconds (Baglioni et al., 2014).

Figure 2

Schematic of the Emotion Reactivity Task



Note. Examples of each image category are presented on the right.

Visual Stimuli

The 40 negative and 40 neutral images were acquired from the Nencki Affective Picture System (NAPS) database (Marchewka et al., 2014). All neutral images depicted faces or people. A total of 40 sleep-related images were used in the emotion reactivity task: 10 came from the database that was used by Baglioni and colleagues (2014) and 30 were obtained from the Internet. The Baglioni images along with the 30 images from a set of 100 new visual stimuli were validated by good sleepers and individuals with insomnia along three different dimensions on the Amazon Mechanical Turk platform. Respondents first completed the ISI. If they obtained an overall score greater than 14, they were classified as individuals with insomnia (n = 29). On the contrary, if they had an overall score below seven, they were classified as good sleepers (n = 30). All respondents were then presented with 100 images. There were 29 images that did not include any people. Respondents had to provide valence ratings for each image (1 = very negative to 9 = very positive, with 5 = neutral). They also assessed how sleep-related each image was (1 = not sleep-related to 9 = very sleep-related, with 5 = ambivalent). Lastly, they indicated the arousal intensity of each image (1 = relaxed to 9 = aroused, with 5 = neutral/ambivalent). The participants were compensated 12 dollars per hour. For these 100 new visual stimuli, the average arousal, valence, and sleep ratings for individuals with insomnia were, respectively, 5.20 (SD = 1.80), 4.60 (SD =2.10), and 7.10 (SD = 0.80). The average arousal, valence, and sleep ratings for good sleepers were, respectively, 4.60 (SD = 1.50), 4.90 (SD = 1.90), and 6.60 (SD = 0.80). The valence, arousal, and sleep ratings for the images that were included in each version of the emotion reactivity task are presented in Table 1. The valence, arousal, and sleep ratings for sleep-related images in each version specifically of participants with insomnia and good sleepers are presented in Table A1.

Table 1

Rating Type	Image Category	Version 1		Version 2	
		М	SD	М	SD
Valence					
	Neutral	5.17	0.25	5.29	0.39
	Negative	3.42	0.41	3.41	0.35
	Sleep-related	2.85	0.72	3.11	0.56
Arousal					
	Neutral	5.11	0.54	5.29	0.59
	Negative	5.98	0.45	6.03	0.35
	Sleep-related	6.34	0.66	6.23	0.43
Sleep					
	Neutral	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Negative	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Sleep-related	6.72	0.51	6.51	0.46

Valence, arousal, and sleep ratings for images in each version of the emotion reactivity task

Note. Data are from good sleepers and participants with insomnia who completed the survey on the Amazon Mechanical Turk platform

Insomnia Severity Index

The Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) is a reliable and valid tool to examine treatment response in individuals with insomnia, which was used to assess insomnia severity at baseline and treatment response. It is a seven-item measure on a 5-point Likert scale that assesses the severity of insomnia symptoms over the last two weeks. The overall score ranged from 0 to 28 (0–7: no insomnia; 8– 14: sub-threshold insomnia; 15–21: moderate insomnia; 22–28 severe insomnia). The internal consistency of the ISI scores was .91 for a sample who had insomnia. Responders of CBTi were defined as participants whose total ISI score dropped by seven or more following CBTi. If participants obtained a total ISI score lower than eight after CBTi, they were in remission (Morin et al., 2011).

Sleep Diaries

To evaluate treatment efficacy on sleep in participants with insomnia, we used the consensus sleep diary. Daily sleep diaries consist of 19 questions about daily activities (e.g., "Yesterday, at what time did you start work, school, housework, volunteer activities, child or family care?") and sleep (e.g., "Last night, at what time did you get into bed?"). Participants either completed them online every morning or filled out a paper version. The subjective sleep parameters of interest, which were averaged over two weeks, were total sleep time, sleep onset latency, wake after sleep onset, and sleep efficiency. More specifically, total sleep time (TST) was defined as the amount of time spent asleep in hours. Sleep onset latency (SOL) consisted of the time it took one to fall asleep in minutes (Benca et al., 1992). Wake after sleep onset (WASO) was defined as the total amount of time spent awake throughout the night in minutes following sleep onset. Lastly, sleep efficiency (SE) was derived using the ratio of time spent asleep and time spent in bed, which was then multiplied by 100 to get a percentage (Shrivastava et al., 2014).

Positive Affect Negative Affect Schedule

To assess treatment efficacy on affect in participants with insomnia, the Positive Affect Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) was used. The PANAS assesses one's emotions or feelings within the last two weeks. It is composed of 10 descriptive words for positive feelings or emotions (e.g., "excited") and 10 other words for negative feelings or emotions (e.g., "distressed"). Individuals were asked to rate how much each word reflects the emotions or feelings that they experienced over the past two weeks on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = not at all to 5 = very much). The overall scores ranged from 10 to 50. Lower scores on the PANAS reflected low positive or negative affect, whereas higher scores reflected high positive or negative affect (Watson et al., 1988).

MRI Data Acquisition

A 3-Tesla GE Discovery MR750 MRI scanner with a 32-channel head coil was used to acquire the MRI data at 6:00 PM. A T2*-weighted sequence was used during the emotion reactivity task (312 volumes, 41 axial slices, TR 2500ms, TE 26ms, flip angle 77°, field of view 25.6cm, resolution 4x4x4mm, matrix size 64x64). T1-weighted structural images were also obtained using the following BRAVO sequence parameters: 196 axial slices, TR 7908ms, TE 3.06ms, flip angle 12°, field of view 25.6cm, resolution 1x1x1mm, matrix size 256x256.

MRI Processing

FSLeyes version 0.34.2 and Mango version 4.1 softwares were used to visually check the quality of the MRI data. Then, the data were pre-processed using Statistical Parametric Mapping 12 (SPM12) within MATLAB. Thus, the T1-weighted structural images in native space were first normalized into standard space using the MNI 152 template (ICBM 152; Fonov et al., 2009). In terms of the functional scans, the first two volumes out of 312 volumes were discarded because it

provides enough time for the longitudinal magnetization to reach a stable state. Slice timing correction was performed to correct for the delays in slice acquisition. Thus, each slice was temporally aligned to the reference slice using a least squares approach as well as spatial transformation using six parameters: rotations along the x, y, and z-axis and left-right, up-down, and forward-backward translations. Thus, the images were realigned to correct for any motion. This was followed by coregistration in which the functional images were overlayed with the T1-weighted structural image with the goal of maximizing mutual information. The next step was normalization. The transformation matrix that was defined for the T1 normalization was applied on the functional images. Lastly, the normalized images underwent spatial smoothing to improve the signal-to-noise ratio and to minimize spatial interindividual variability.

First-Level Analyses: Individual Analyses

Statistical analyses involving fMRI data were conducted in SPM12. For each participant, a general linear model was conducted to examine brain activation within each voxel of the brain that was related to the onset and duration of the following conditions: neutral, negative, and sleep-related. To account for delays in the hemodynamic response, the timing of each condition was convolved with the timing of the canonical hemodynamic response function. The six motion parameter estimates were included as covariates. The following first-level contrasts were defined: each condition relative to the unmodelled baseline (i.e., fixation crosses during the emotion reactivity task). Contrasts between conditions (i.e., negative vs. neutral or sleep-related vs. neutral) identified voxels that were more activated in response to one condition over another.
Second-Level Analyses

Emotion Reactivity in Insomnia

In terms of the second-level analyses, contrasts for each condition were analyzed within each group. Then, to examine if participants with insomnia had heightened emotion reactivity to negatively valenced stimuli at baseline, contrasts for the negative and sleep-related conditions were compared between participants with insomnia and good sleepers. Age and sex were included as covariates. We specifically assessed group differences in brain activity in response to negative vs. neutral images as well as sleep vs. neutral images. For region of interest (ROI) analyses, the anatomical masks were created using the Wake Forest University PickAtlas 3 (WFU PickAtlas 3) toolbox (Maldjian et al., 2003; Maldjian et al., 2004) on MATLAB. Although we did not correct for multiple comparisons across the whole brain, we set the uncorrected *p* value to .001 at the voxel level. The extent threshold was set to zero voxels.

Therapists

In total, there were five different therapists who administered the CBTi to participants with insomnia. To make sure there were no differences between the two insomnia groups that could be accounted for by therapists, we used the Pearson chi-squared test. It indicated that there was no statistically significant association between insomnia group and therapist allegiance, $\chi^2(5) = 3.81$, p = .58. As we were already controlling for age and sex, we did not account for therapist in our statistical analyses.

Duration of Insomnia Symptoms

We also investigated if duration of insomnia symptoms (in months) should be included as an additional covariate in the statistical analyses. To ensure that there were no differences between the two insomnia groups that could be accounted for by duration of insomnia symptoms, we performed an independent-samples *t*-test. It indicated that the TX (M = 215.11, SD = 203.77) and WL (M = 143.56, SD = 111.33) groups did not differ in duration of insomnia symptoms, t(16) = 0.92, p = .37, Hedges' g = 0.41. As there were no differences, we also did not account for duration of insomnia symptoms in our statistical analyses.

Effect of CBTi

A mixed model with two factors (group and visit) was applied to the contrasts obtained from the first-level analyses. In order to determine if there were differences in brain activation in response to a given condition between groups or across time, group comparisons were made between the immediate CBTi group and the wait-list control group. Visit consisted of the first and second neuroimaging assessments. Age and sex were included as covariates. Once again, the contrasts that we examined were the following: negative vs. neutral images and sleep vs. neutral images.

Prediction of Treatment Response

Multiple linear regression was also conducted to investigate if amygdala activity while viewing sleep-related images during the first exposure to the emotion task predicts response to CBTi in participants with insomnia. Age and sex were included as the main covariates of interest. The primary outcome variable was total ISI score, whereas subjective sleep parameters obtained from the sleep diaries (i.e., total sleep time, sleep onset latency, sleep efficiency, wake after sleep onset) were secondary outcome variables.

Valence Ratings

A two-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to investigate if there were differences in valence ratings for each image category on the emotion reactivity task between the participants with insomnia and the good sleepers at baseline. A mixed model ANOVA was also conducted to examine if there were differences in valence ratings for each image category on the task in the immediate treatment group after receiving CBTi relative to the wait-list control group.

PANAS

Independent-samples *t*-tests were performed to examine if there were any differences in subjective positive and negative affect between the insomnia group and good sleepers at baseline. A mixed model ANOVA was also conducted to determine if there were changes in subjective affect in the immediate treatment group, following CBTi, compared to the wait-list control group.

Results

Data Integrity

A few issues were addressed before running the analyses. One good sleeper was excluded from the study because a software update on the laptop interrupted the MRI scans. Therefore, we did not acquire the subjective ratings and the MRI data during the emotion reactivity task for this participant. Overall, the final sample size was 26 instead of 27.

Statistical assumptions were also assessed. For the mixed ANOVAs, outliers were identified using the boxplot method. If a given value was greater than 'Q3 + 3*IQR' or lower than (Q1 - 3*IQR), then it was considered an extreme outlier. Nevertheless, none of the participants were excluded from the statistical analyses. The Levene's test was performed to test the assumption of homogeneity of variances. To test the assumption of sphericity, the Mauchly's test was used. If this assumption was violated, the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was implemented. The Shapiro-Wilk test was conducted to determine if the outcome variable of interest was normally distributed for each cell. If normality was violated, the aligned rank transform (ART) method was used (Wobbrock et al., 2011; Kay et al., 2021). Once the data were transformed, the ANOVA was performed. To conduct post-hoc pairwise comparisons with this method, contrast tests with ART were performed (Elkin et al., 2021). The Bonferroni method was used to correct for multiple comparisons. For independent-samples t-tests or dependent-samples t-tests, outliers were detected using the method that was previous described. The assumption of homogeneity of variances was either assessed using the Levene's test or Bartlett's test. The assumption of normality was assessed using the previously described test. If the assumption of normality was violated, the Wilcoxon rank sum test was used instead of the independent-samples *t*-test.

The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were calculated for the scores on the ISI and PANAS questionnaires in our own sample. When including all participants in the analysis, the Cronbach's alpha coefficients for the PANAS scores at V0 and ISI scores at V1 ranged from .79 to .93. When including all participants who completed the same questionnaires during V2, the Cronbach's alpha coefficients for the PANAS and ISI scores were between .91 and .95. More detailed results are presented in Table B1.

Participant Characteristics

Demographic data are presented in Table 2. There were four males in each group. In addition, there were five females in the two insomnia groups and four female good sleepers. The one-way ANOVA, to examine if the three groups differed in age, showed no statistically significant difference between groups (F(2,23) = 2.20, p = .13). The Kruskal-Wallis test, to determine if there were differences in education level between the three group, showed no difference in education level (H(2) = 0.17, p = .92). In terms of handedness, one participant in the TX group and two participants in the WL group were left-handed. However, none of the good sleepers were left-handed.

Subjective Sleep Measures

ISI

We conducted an independent-samples *t*-test to evaluate if participants with insomnia and good sleepers differed in severity of insomnia symptoms at baseline. As shown in Figure C1, the total ISI score was higher in the insomnia group (M = 15.61, SD = 3.84) compared to the good sleepers at V1 (M = 1.50, SD = 1.42) at V1, t(23.62) = 13.66, p < .001, Hedges' g = 4.12.

Furthermore, we examined the effects of group and visit on total ISI score in participants with insomnia. The analysis of variance of align rank transformed data test indicated that there

Table 2

Demographic data of each group

Characteristic	TX	WL	GS
	(n = 9)	(n = 9)	(n = 8)
Sex			
Male/Female	4/5	4/5	4/4
Age (year)	46.1 ± 13.52	42.6 ± 13.55	33.7 ± 9.48
range	26–65	28–65	25–49
Education			
High school	1	0	0
CEGEP	0	1	0
Bachelor	3	4	4
Master	5	3	3
PhD	0	1	1

Note. Sex and education are presented as frequencies, whereas age is presented as means \pm standard deviations. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group; GS: good sleeper group

were group, visit, and group by visit interaction effects on total ISI score (Table C1). As shown in Figure C2, the interaction contrast indicated that the difference in total ISI score between the TX group and WL group at V1 differed from that at V2, $\chi^2(1) = 20.13$, p < .001. The total ISI score was lower in the TX group than the WL group at V2. Overall, seven out of nine participants in the TX group had a change in total ISI score by seven or more points, suggesting that they were responders to CBTi. No participants in the WL group had a decrease in total ISI score by seven or more points. Furthermore, eight out of nine participants in the TX group had a total ISI score lower than eight following CBTi, indicating that they were in remission. Only one out of nine participants in the WL group had a total score lower than eight at V2.

Sleep Diaries

In comparison with the good sleepers, participants with insomnia self-reported on sleep diaries having longer sleep onset latency (W = 33, p = .03), more awakenings (W = 11, p < .001), longer awakenings (t(20.77) = 4.33, p < .001, Hedges' g = 1.23), shorter sleep duration (W = 117, p = .01), and lower sleep efficiency following V0 (t(24) = -3.05, p = .01, Hedges' g = -1.26). The average subjective sleep measures, which were acquired from sleep diaries, for participants with insomnia and good sleepers at baseline are presented in Table C2. On average, the number of days that all participants filled out sleep diaries following V0 was 13.54 days.

PANAS

We performed independent-samples *t*-tests to test whether participants with insomnia and good sleepers differed with respect to self-reported ratings of positive and negative affect at baseline. As presented in Figures D1 and D2, we did not find a statistically significant difference in total positive affect scores between participants with insomnia (M = 33.28, SD = 7.47) and good sleepers (M = 33.63, SD = 6.25) at V0, t(24) = 0.11, p = .91, Hedges' g = 0.05. However,

participants with insomnia self-reported having greater negative affect (M = 19.28, SD = 5.96) than good sleepers (M = 15.25, SD = 2.38) at V0, t(23.91) = 2.46, p = .02, Hedges' g = 0.75.

Additionally, we conducted a mixed model ANOVA to determine if there were changes in subjective affect in the TX group, following CBTi, compared to the WL group. As shown in Figure D3 or Table D1, there was a group effect on positive affect. On average, participants in the WL group self-reported having less positive affect than those in the TX group, F(1,16) = 9.92, p = .01. But, there was no visit nor group by visit interaction effect on positive affect. Additionally, there were no group, visit, nor group by visit interaction effects on negative affect (Figure D4; Table D2).

Valence Ratings

We conducted a two-way repeated measures ANOVA to investigate whether participants with insomnia and good sleepers differed with respect to valence ratings of neutral, negative, and sleep-related images during the emotion reactivity task. As shown in Figure E1 or Table E1, there was no statistically significant group by condition interaction effect on rating, F(1.62, 38.84) = 2.66, p = .09. However, there was a statistically significant main effect of condition on rating, F(1.62, 38.84) = 98.93, p < .001. Negative images (M = 3.58, SE = 0.12) were rated as more negative than neutral images (M = 1.74, SE = 0.10), $M_{difference} = 1.84$, SE = 0.10, p < .001. Sleep images (M = 2.66, SE = 0.15) were also rated as more negative than neutral images, $M_{difference} = 0.92$, SE = 0.16, p < .001. Additionally, negative images were perceived as more negative than sleep images, $M_{difference} = 0.91$, SE = 0.13, p < .001. There was also a statistically significant effect of group on rating, F(1, 24) = 5.06, p = .03. On average, participants with insomnia (M = 2.89, SE = 0.11) rated the images as more negative than good sleepers (M = 2.43, SE = 0.17) at V1, $M_{difference} = 0.46$, SE = 0.21, p = .03. The average valence ratings for both groups at V1 are presented in

Table E2. Independent-samples *t*-tests showed no statistically significant difference in valence rating of neutral images between participants with insomnia and good sleepers at V1 (t(24) = 1.88, p = .07, Hedges' g = 0.77). There was also no statistically significant difference in rating of negative images between the insomnia group and good sleepers at V1, t(24) = 0.83, p = .42, Hedges' g = 0.34. But, participants with insomnia did rate sleep-related images as more negative than good sleepers at V1, t(24) = 2.63, p = .01, Hedges' g = 1.08.

Furthermore, we ran a mixed model ANOVA to investigate if there were differences in valence ratings for each image category on the task in the TX group after receiving CBTi relative to the WL group. As shown in Figure E2 or Table E3, there were no group nor group by visit interaction effects on rating of neutral images. However, there was a statistically significant visit effect. On average, participants with insomnia rated the neutral images as more negative at V1 than at V2, t(16) = 2.85, p = .01. Similarly, although there were no group nor group by visit interaction effects on rating of negative images, there was a statistically significant main effect of visit (Figure E3; Table E4). Participants with insomnia, on average, reported that the negative images were more negative at V1 than V2, t(17) = 3.03, p = .01. However, there were no group, visit, nor group by visit interaction effects on rating of sleep-related images (Figure E4; Table E5).

Objective 1: Insomnia vs. Good Sleepers at Baseline

Activity in Response to Emotional Pictures Within the Amygdala

Irrespective of controlling for the family-wise error rate (FWER) at the level of .05, amygdala activity in response to sleep-related vs. neutral images did not differ between participants with insomnia and healthy sleepers at V1. There were also no group differences in amygdala activity in response to negative vs. neutral images at V1. Thus, we investigated if there

were group differences in activity within the whole brain in response to the negatively valenced images at baseline.

Activity in Response to Emotional Pictures Within the Whole Brain

3).

We first examined brain regions that were activated in response to neutral, negative, and sleep images relative to baseline in each group at V1. The brain maps for the good sleepers and participants with insomnia are presented in Figures F1–F3. More details about the clusters are presented in Tables F1–F6.

When we examined if participants with insomnia had greater brain activity than good sleepers at V1 in response to sleep in contrast to neutral images, we did not find any statistically significant differences. We also assessed if good sleepers had greater brain activity than participants with insomnia at V1 in response to negative relative to neutral images. In this case, good sleepers had greater activity in the right cuneus, right lentiform nucleus, left and right supramarginal gyri, left culmen, left middle frontal gyrus, left and right middle occipital gyri, right inferior frontal gyrus, left superior frontal gyrus, and left superior temporal gyrus (Figure 3; Table

Brain regions that are more activated in good sleepers compared to participants with insomnia in response to negative relative to

neutral images at V1



Note. Height threshold T: 3.50 (p < .001 uncorrected at the voxel level).

Table 3

Clusters statistically significantly more activated in good sleepers compared to participants with insomnia in response to negative vs. neutral images at V1

		Cluster	Peak-level			
Brain region	Coordinates	Cluster size	puncorrected	t	Z_E	puncorrected
(BA)	(x, y, z)	(voxels)				
Right cuneus	14, -96, 10	21	.41	4.70	3.87	< .001
Right lentiform nucleus	20, 0, 6	8	.62	4.49	3.75	< .001
Right supramarginal gyrus (40)	48, -40, 48	104	.07	4.36	3.66	< .001
Right supramarginal gyrus (40)	54, -50, 50			4.03	3.45	<.001
Left culmen	-42, -58, -26	13	.52	3.93	3.38	< .001
Left middle frontal gyrus (9)	-32, 26, 24	8	.62	3.84	3.32	< .001
Left supramarginal gyrus (40)	-42, -44, 42	18	.44	3.82	3.31	<.001
Left supramarginal gyrus (40)	-40, -36, 38			3.73	3.25	.001
Right inferior frontal gyrus (9)	58, 16, 26	5	.71	3.73	3.25	.001
Left superior frontal gyrus (6)	-8, 12, 60	8	.62	3.68	3.21	.001

Note. Coordinates represent peak voxel coordinates in millimeters; For clarity, only clusters with at least five voxels were listed in the table; BA = Brodmann area; Height threshold T: 3.50 (p < .001 uncorrected at the voxel level).

Objective 2: Immediate Treatment vs. Wait-List Control Groups (Baseline vs. V2)

Activity in Response to Sleep-Related Pictures Within the Amygdala

We were not able to investigate the interaction effects within the amygdala (using ROI analyses) as this region was not activated enough by the task. Hence, we did not assess the effects of CBTi on activity within the left and right amygdala in response to sleep relative to neutral images. But, we did investigate if there were group by visit interaction effects on activity within the whole brain in response to this particular contrast in participants with chronic primary insomnia.

Activity in Response to Sleep-Related Pictures Within the Whole Brain

Using voxel-based whole brain analyses, we examined the effects of CBTi on brain activity in response to sleep relative to neutral images (Table 4). While controlling for age and sex, we found a statistically significant interaction specifically within the left insula and left superior temporal gyrus (Figure 4). The TX group had greater activity within the left insula and left superior temporal gyrus than the WL group at V1. As shown in Figures 5 and 6, activity within those regions decreased over time in the TX group, whereas it increased over time in the WL group. We also found a statistically significant main effect of group, such that participants in the WL group, on average, had greater activity in the left insula, right insula, and left cingulate gyrus than those in the TX group. However, participants in the TX group, on average, had greater activity in the left superior temporal gyrus and left precentral gyrus than those in the WL group. While accounting for age and sex, there was also a statistically significant main effect of visit. On average, activity in the left precentral gyrus and left caudate was higher at V1 than at V2, whereas activity in the left cingulate gyrus and left middle frontal gyrus was higher at V2 than at V1.

Table 4

Activated brain regions in response to sleep relative to neutral images

Effect		Clust	ter-level		Peak-level		
	Brain region	Coordinates	Cluster	puncorrected	F	Z_E	puncorrected
	(BA)	(x, y, z)	size				
			(voxels)				
Group							
	Right insula (13)	42, -8, 22	9	.523	19.32	3.66	.000
	Right insula (13)	48, -10, 12	8	.549	15.89	3.36	.000
	Left superior	-68, -38, 10	6	.610	15.61	3.33	.000
	temporal gyrus (22)						
	Left insula (13)	-42, -6, 18	7	.578	15.00	3.27	.001
	Left cingulate	-16, 8, 30	1	.861	14.22	3.19	.001
	gyrus (24)						
	Left cingulate	-16, 4, 30	1	.861	14.02	3.17	.001
	gyrus (24)						

	Left precentral	-46, 0, 42	1	.861	13.49	3.11	.001
	gyrus (6)						
Visit							
	Left precentral	-36, -10, 26	47	.142	29.61	4.35	.000
	gyrus (6)						
	Left cingulate	-2, -10, 28	1	.861	13.61	3.12	.001
	gyrus (23)						
	Left middle frontal	-32, 38, 12	1	.861	13.46	3.11	.001
	gyrus (10)						
	Left caudate	-20, 6, 22	1	.861	13.45	3.11	.001
Interaction							
	Left insula (13)	-38, -36, 28	1	.861	13.46	3.11	.001
	Left superior	-44, -22, -8	1	.861	13.37	3.10	.001
	temporal gyrus (22)						

Note. Coordinates represent peak voxel coordinates in millimeters; BA: Brodmann area; Height threshold F: 13.29 (p < .001 uncorrected) at the voxel level).

Statistically significant group by visit interaction on activity within the left insula and superior temporal gyrus



Note. Group (TX vs. WL) by visit (V1 vs. V2) interaction on activity within the left insula (top panel) and left superior temporal gyrus (bottom panel) in response to sleep relative to neutral images





Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group



Left superior temporal gyrus activity between the insomnia groups at V1 and V2

Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

Objective 3: Neural Predictors of Treatment Response

We originally wanted to investigate if amygdala activity in response to sleep relative to neutral images would predict treatment response in those who received immediate CBTi. However, we could not test this hypothesis, given that there was no amygdala activity in response to this contrast in individuals with insomnia at baseline. Thus, we identified brain regions that were more activated while all participants with insomnia were exposed to sleep images relative to neutral images at V1: the left angular gyrus (Brodmann area 39) and the left middle frontal gyrus (Brodmann area 6). We then explored if activity in each of these brain regions individually predicted CBTi treatment response in the TX group, but also compared it to the WL group.

Left Angular Gyrus and Treatment Response

When we investigated if activity within the left angular gyrus in response to sleep in contrast to neutral images predicted treatment response as assessed by the ISI, we did not find a brain activity by group interaction. Thus, the slopes of the regression between activity within the left angular gyrus at V1 and change in total ISI scores were similar for the TX and WL groups (Tables 5–6; Figure 7). However, there was a statistically significant difference in intercepts between the regression lines of the TX and WL groups, whereby it was higher in the WL group. We also found a statistically significant effect of group on change in total ISI scores. On average, participants in the TX group had greater reductions in total ISI scores over time than those in the WL group. But, we did not find a statistically significant effect of activity in the left angular gyrus on change in total ISI scores.

In terms of number of awakenings, we did not find a brain activity by group interaction. Hence, the slopes of the regression between activity within the left angular gyrus at V1 and change in the number of awakenings were similar for both insomnia groups (Tables G1–G2). But, there

Table 5

Results for BA39 Activity Predicting Change in Total ISI Scores With an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA39 Activity	1	109.70	109.70	3.67	.08	0.09
Group	1	636.30	636.30	21.32	<.001	0.55
BA39	1	0.60	0.60	0.02	.89	0.00
Activity*Group						
Residuals	14	417.90	29.80			

Note. BA39: Brodmann area 39

Table 6

Results for BA39 Activity Predicting Change in Total ISI Scores Without an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA39 Activity	1	109.70	109.70	3.93	.07	0.09
Group	1	636.30	636.30	22.81	<.001	0.55
Residuals	15	418.50	27.90			

Note. BA39: Brodmann area 39





Activity in the left angular gyrus (BA39) at V1

Note. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

was a statistically significant difference in intercepts between the regression lines of the TX and WL groups. More precisely, those in the WL group who had no activity in the left angular gyrus during V1 had more awakenings at V2 than at V1. But, those in the TX group who had lower activity in this region had fewer awakenings at V2 than at V1. Furthermore, there was a statistically significant effect of group on change in number of awakenings throughout the night. Participants in the TX group, on average, had fewer awakenings over time than those in the WL group. However, we did not find a statistically significant effect of activity in the left angular gyrus on change in number of awakenings.

Regarding total sleep time, we did not find a brain activity by group interaction. Thus, the slopes of the regression between activity within the left angular gyrus at V1 and change in total sleep time were similar for both groups (Tables G3–G4). But, there was a statistically significant difference in intercepts between the regression lines of the TX and WL groups, such that the intercept was higher in the TX group. There was also a statistically significant effect of group on change in total sleep time. Participants in the TX group, on average, slept longer across time than those in the WL group. But, we did not find a statistically significant effect of activity in the left angular gyrus on change in total sleep time.

We did not observe a brain activity by group interaction for the following outcome variables: sleep onset latency, duration in awakenings throughout the night, sleep efficiency, or sleep quality. Thus, the slopes of the regression between activity within the left angular gyrus at V1 and change in those outcome variables did not differ for both groups (Figures G1–G4). There was no statistically significant difference in intercepts between the regression lines of the TX and WL groups. Moreover, we did not find a statistically significant effect of group nor effect of activity in the left angular gyrus on change in the previously mentioned outcome variables.

Left Middle Frontal Gyrus and Treatment Response

When we investigated if activity within the left middle frontal gyrus in response to sleep relative to neutral images predicted treatment response as assessed by the ISI, we did not find a brain activity by group interaction. Therefore, the slopes of the regression between activity within the left middle frontal gyrus at V1 and change in total ISI scores did not differ for both insomnia groups (Tables 7–8; Figure 8). However, there was a statistically significant difference in intercepts between the regression lines of the TX and WL groups, such that the intercept was higher in the WL group. Furthermore, we found a statistically significant effect of group on change in total ISI scores. On average, participants in the TX group had a greater decline in total ISI scores across time than those in the WL group. But, we did not find a statistically significant effect of activity in the left middle frontal gyrus on change in total ISI scores.

In terms of number of awakenings, we did not find a brain activity by group interaction. Thus, the slopes of the regression between activity within the left middle frontal gyrus at V1 and change in the number of awakenings did not differ for the TX and WL groups (Tables G5–G6). Nonetheless, there was a statistically significant difference in intercepts between the regression lines of the TX and WL groups, such that the intercept was higher in the WL group. Moreover, we found a statistically significant effect of group on change in number of awakenings. On average, participants in the TX group had less awakenings throughout the night over time than those in the WL group. But, we did not find a statistically significant effect of activity in the left middle frontal gyrus on change in the number of awakenings.

Regarding total sleep time, no brain activity by group interaction was found. This means that the slopes of the regression between activity within the left middle frontal gyrus at V1 and change in total sleep time did not differ for the two groups (Tables G7–G8). But, there was a

Table 7

Results fo	or BA6	Activity	Predicting	Change in	Total ISI	Scores	With an	Interaction
------------	--------	----------	------------	-----------	-----------	--------	---------	-------------

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA6 Activity	1	4.60	4.60	0.14	.71	0.00
Group	1	707.60	707.60	21.98	<.001	0.61
BA6	1	1.60	1.60	0.05	.83	0.00
Activity*Group						
Residuals	14	450.60	32.20			

Note. BA6: Brodmann area 6

Table 8

Results for BA6 Activity Predicting Change in Total ISI Scores Without an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA6 Activity	1	4.60	4.60	0.15	.70	0.00
Group	1	707.60	707.60	23.48	< .001	0.61
Residuals	15	452.2	30.10			

Note. BA6: Brodmann area 6





Activity in the left middle frontal gyrus (BA6) at V1

Note. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

statistically significant difference in intercepts between the regression lines of the TX and WL groups. In this case, the intercept was higher in the TX group. Moreover, there was a statistically significant effect of group on change in total sleep time. Participants in the TX group, on average, slept more over time than those in the WL group. But, we did not find a statistically significant effect of activity in the left middle frontal gyrus on change in total sleep time.

In terms of sleep efficiency, no brain activity by group interaction was observed. This indicates that the slopes of the regression between activity within the left middle frontal gyrus at V1 and change in sleep efficiency did not differ for the insomnia groups (Tables G9–G10). But, there was a statistically significant difference in intercepts between the regression lines of the TX and WL groups. More specifically, the intercept was higher in the TX group. There was also a statistically significant effect of group on change in sleep efficiency. Participants in the TX group, on average, had greater sleep efficiency over time than those in the WL group. However, we did not find a statistically significant effect of activity in the left middle frontal gyrus on change in sleep efficiency.

Regarding sleep onset latency, duration of awakenings, and sleep quality, we did not find a brain activity by group interaction. Thus, there were no statistically significant differences in slopes of the regression between activity within the left middle frontal gyrus at V1 and change in sleep efficiency for the two insomnia groups (Figures G5–G7). Additionally, no statistically significant differences in intercepts between the regression lines of the TX and WL groups were observed. There was no statistically significant effect of group on change in sleep onset latency, duration in awakenings throughout the night, or sleep quality. Furthermore, we did not observe a statistically significant effect of activity in the left middle frontal gyrus on change in these outcome variables.

Discussion

In the current study, we examined if there were any differences in self-reported measures of sleep and affect as well as subjective and brain responses during an fMRI-based emotion reactivity task between adults with chronic primary insomnia and good sleepers at baseline. Furthermore, we assessed the effects of CBTi on self-reported measures of sleep and affect as well as subjective and brain responses during this emotion reactivity task in adults with insomnia. We also investigated if amygdala activity in response to sleep vs. neutral images at baseline would predict CBTi treatment response in those in the TX group.

Sleep and CBTi

Consistent with findings from previous studies (Harvey et al., 2008; Li et al., 2017; Sanz-Arigita et al., 2021; Talbot et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2013), our participants with insomnia did report having greater insomnia severity, longer sleep onset latency, more as well as longer awakenings, shorter sleep duration, and poorer sleep efficiency compared to the good sleepers at baseline. These results indicate that our participants with insomnia did report experiencing sleep disturbances that are normally uncommon among healthy sleepers. Following CBTi, participants in the immediate treatment group self-reported having longer sleep duration, increased sleep efficiency, and fewer awakenings throughout the night, which is consistent with previous studies (Cervena et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2019; Van Houdenhove et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2006). In addition, these individuals had a reduction in total ISI scores after receiving this treatment. A drop in total ISI scores following this specific intervention has been noted in similar studies as well (Cervena et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2019). Thus, these results show that participants with insomnia reported having improvements in their sleep after completing the CBTi sessions and

provide further evidence for the effectiveness of individualized CBTi for sleep in adults with chronic primary insomnia.

Affect

As mood disorders can co-occur or emerge following chronic insomnia and proposed models suggest that emotions can play a role in the onset and maintenance of insomnia, we assessed if there were differences in affect between participants with insomnia and good sleepers (Harvey, 2002; Johnson et al., 2006; Kales et al., 1976; Ohayon & Roth, 2003). Although our participants with insomnia did not differ from good sleepers in terms of positive affect at baseline, they did report having greater negative affect. Similarly, Buysse and colleagues (2007) found that individuals with primary insomnia reported having more negative mood, particularly in the evening, in comparison to good sleepers. Furthermore, Talbot et al. (2012) reported that individuals with insomnia had more negative mood in the morning and evening than healthy sleepers. In line with our findings, they also did not find any differences in positive mood during the morning and evening between these two groups. Additionally, Ong et al. (2011) found similar results among individuals who were classified as poor sleepers. These poor sleepers reported having more negative affect during the daytime and at night than those classified as good sleepers. On the contrary, Howlett and colleagues (2020) failed to find any differences in positive and negative affect between individuals diagnosed with insomnia and good sleepers. A positive association between negative affect and sleep disturbances has been reported in previous studies (Latif et al., 2019; Ong et al., 2011). Thus, perhaps Howlett and colleagues (2020) did not find any differences in affect because there were also no observed differences in subjective sleep measures, aside from reduced total sleep time. Nevertheless, these findings highlight the heterogeneity of insomnia whereby some individuals have daytime complaints that consist of mood disturbances (Levenson et al., 2015).

Effects of CBTi on Affect

We hypothesized that participants who received immediate treatment would have less negative affect after receiving CBTi. However, in this study, we only found a difference in positive affect between the two insomnia groups. Positive affect was, on average, lower in the WL group. In Van Houdenhove and colleagues' (2011) study, they reported that individuals with chronic primary insomnia who initially had less positive affect had reduced insomnia severity after receiving CBTi than those with more positive affect. However, Ong et al. (2009) showed that there were no statistically significant impacts of CBTi combined with mindfulness meditation on both positive and negative affect in adults with insomnia. Saxon and colleagues (2017) found improvements, following cognitive-behavioural therapy, in positive affect and a drop in negative affect in individuals who experienced symptoms of depression, anxiety, or both. However, this treatment was not intended to specifically target sleep problems or insomnia symptoms. Although there appeared to be improvements in subjective sleep measures in the TX group, these results may indicate that there were no transfer effects. Thus, CBTi, a treatment primarily used to treat sleep problems, by itself may not be beneficial or effective enough for altering general positive or negative affect (Anderson, 2017).

Valence Ratings of Emotional Pictures

Based on Baglioni and colleagues' (2010) study, we did not expect to find group differences in valence ratings of neutral images. In accordance with this hypothesis, there were no discernable differences in rating for neutral pictures of faces or people between participants with insomnia and good sleepers in our study. Similarly, in Jansson-Fröjmark and colleagues' (2013)

study, participants with primary insomnia and good sleepers did not rate the neutral images differently in terms of valence and arousal. On the contrary, Akram (2020) noted that individuals who reported having clinically significant insomnia symptoms rated neutral faces as both more attractive and happier than good sleepers. However, those with clinically significant insomnia symptoms did not rate the neutral faces as more sad, trustworthy, approachable, healthy, or sociable than the healthy controls. Thus, in both groups, neutral faces may not be perceived as more negative. In a sleep restriction study, good sleepers rated neutral images as more negative when their sleep was restricted for five days than when they slept normally (Tempesta et al., 2019). One explanation for this inconsistent finding could be that they examined good sleepers who were deprived of sleep instead of individuals with chronic insomnia. However, short-term sleep loss may not have the same effects on emotion perception as chronic sleep disturbances.

Based on Baglioni and colleagues' (2010) study, we also did not expect to find group differences in valence ratings of negative images. Consistent with our hypothesis, our participants with insomnia and good sleepers rated negative images similarly. In a sleep restriction study with normal sleepers, males were shown negative pictures and were asked to rate them in terms of valence and arousal before and after a three-hour interval of early or late sleep (i.e., at 11:00 PM or at 3:00 AM) or wake. Before and after the three-hour interval, participants in the early sleep group and late sleep group did not differ in valence nor arousal rating of negative images from the wake group. Compared to the wake group, previously shown negative images were perceived as more positive than new negative images after early sleep, but they were rated as more negative after late sleep (Wagner et al., 2002). In another sleep restriction study with good sleepers, participants did not provide different valence ratings for unpleasant images when their sleep was restricted for five days than when they slept normally (Tempesta et al., 2019). Altogether, these

results suggest that individuals with sleep difficulties and good sleepers tend to accurately perceive negative pictures as negative and in a similar manner.

Based on Baglioni and colleagues' (2010) study, we expected that individuals with insomnia would find the sleep-related images to be more unpleasant than healthy sleepers. Unlike for the neutral or negative images, the participants with insomnia in our study specifically rated the sleep-related images as more negative than good sleepers. In Jansson-Fröjmark and colleagues' (2013) study, they found that individuals with primary insomnia provided higher valence and arousal ratings for threatening insomnia-related images. Thus, this indicates that individuals with insomnia may be particularly sensitive to sleep images, especially those that are negative.

Effects of CBTi on Valence Ratings

To our knowledge, this study is the first to evaluate the effects of CBTi on subjective ratings of images that were neutral, negative, or sleep-related in adults with chronic primary insomnia. Even though two sets of images were used in each version of the emotion reactivity task and the order was counterbalanced, participants with insomnia rated neutral and negative images as more negative at V1 than at V2. However, the valence ratings of sleep images did not differ between the two insomnia groups nor across time. Although these sleep images were categorized as negative in nature, the valence ratings for these images did not decrease over time just like the ratings for negative and neutral images. These results may demonstrate that there is a habituation effect only for non-sleep stimuli. But, individuals with insomnia may still perceive sleep stimuli as aversive, despite reporting improvements in sleep following the intervention. In a meta-analysis, Thakral et al. (2020) reported that CBTi reduced maladaptive beliefs about sleep in individuals with insomnia. Even though it is unclear if our participants with insomnia initially had dysfunctional beliefs about sleep, Okajima and colleagues (2014) previously stated that a decline

in dysfunctional beliefs and attitudes about sleep following CBTi did not mediate improvements in insomnia symptoms. This could mean that participants with insomnia may still perceive sleep stimuli as negative or may still be sensitive to sleep stimuli, regardless of benefitting from CBTi.

Brain Activity to Emotional Pictures

While the previously mentioned studies mainly focused on subjective responses to emotional images, we further explored subjective responses and brain responses to emotional images in adults with insomnia and good sleepers. Based on Baglioni and colleagues' (2014) study, we hypothesized that participants with insomnia would have enhanced amygdala activity when exposed to sleep images than healthy sleepers. Contrary to our hypothesis as well as the results from Baglioni and colleagues' (2014) study, both groups in our study did not have any activation in the left or right amygdala in response to negative or sleep images relative to baseline. Additionally, activity within the whole brain in response to sleep relative to neutral images did not differ between participants with insomnia and good sleepers at baseline. This may not be surprising because participants with insomnia and good sleepers rated that negative pictures were the most negative rather than sleep images. Although our study and Baglioni et al.'s (2014) study utilized sleep and neutral images with relatively moderate arousal levels, we may have only been able to detect elevated amygdala activity with images with higher arousal levels, especially with such a small sample size. In Kim and colleagues' (2017) study, participants with insomnia did have greater activation in the left and right precentral gyri, left prefrontal cortex, left fusiform gyrus, and left and right posterior cingulate gyri in response to sleep pictures than good sleepers. But, no differences in amygdala activity were observed between the groups. These inconsistent results can be attributed to the images that they incorporated into their task, which did not have any emotional or facial expressions.

In our study, we also did not detect any differences in amygdala activity in response to negative relative to neutral images between those with insomnia and good sleepers. However, participants with insomnia initially had decreased activation in the left superior temporal gyrus and right lentiform nucleus when they encountered negative images relative to neutral images compared to good sleepers. Huang and colleagues (2012) found that, in comparison to good sleepers, individuals with primary insomnia had lower functional connectivity during resting-state between the left amygdala and the left superior temporal gyrus and right lentiform nucleus. Additionally, participants with insomnia exhibited lower functional connectivity at rest between the right amygdala and the left superior temporal gyrus. Given that the coordination between the amygdala and associated brain areas is involved in emotional processing, these results may demonstrate that participants with insomnia have altered neural circuits that are specifically linked to emotions (Huang et al., 2012; Phillips et al., 2003). In Cerullo and colleagues' (2014) study, participants with bipolar I disorder had greater activation in the right lentiform nucleus while viewing emotional images compared to healthy controls. Zou et al. (2021) also found that, compared with good sleepers, patients with insomnia had reduced functional connectivity between the thalamus and the following subcortical structures: hippocampus, amygdala, parahippocampal gyrus, and lentiform nucleus. Altogether, these results may provide further support that activity within the limbic system is altered in individuals with insomnia.

Furthermore, our participants with insomnia had decreased activation in the right cuneus and bilateral middle occipital gyri when they viewed negative images in contrast to neutral images compared to good sleepers. The cuneus is a brain region that is a part of the visual network (Marques et al., 2017). The middle occipital gyrus is also thought to be involved in processing visual information (Teng et al., 2018). Huang et al. (2012) showed that participants with insomnia had higher functional connectivity at rest between the right amygdala and right cuneus and left middle occipital gyrus than good sleepers. Additionally, in Cerullo et al.'s (2014) study, participants with bipolar I disorder had lower activity in the bilateral cuneus and bilateral middle occipital gyri in response to emotional images than healthy controls, indicating that visual processing of emotional stimuli may be disrupted in this clinical sample. Although participants with insomnia and good sleepers did not rate negative images differently from one another, these findings provide support for functional brain alterations pertaining to visual processing of emotional pictures among participants with insomnia.

Moreover, good sleepers had greater activity within the left middle frontal gyrus, left superior frontal gyrus, right inferior frontal gyrus, and bilateral supramarginal gyri when exposed to negative compared to neutral images than participants with insomnia. In a study conducted by Naor et al. (2020), healthy adults had greater activation in the left middle frontal gyrus, left superior frontal gyrus, left supramarginal gyrus, and bilateral inferior frontal gyri while viewing, in an empathic manner, pictures depicting painful situations relative to pictures depicting non-painful situations. On the contrary, they had greater activation in the bilateral supramarginal gyri and inferior frontal gyri while regulating their emotions toward these pictures using the reappraisal strategy. In particular, the inferior frontal gyrus is a region within the central executive network. This network is involved in maintaining and manipulating information in working memory as well as in decision-making or problem solving in a goal-driven manner (Menon & Uddin, 2010). Overall, these results can hint that these individuals with insomnia exhibited functional brain alterations linked with cognitive functioning or emotions in response to negative stimuli.

Effects of CBTi on Brain Activity

We hypothesized that, after CBTi, participants in the TX group would have lower amygdala activity while rating sleep-related images during the emotion reactivity task relative to the participants in the WL group. Although this hypothesis was not supported, we found that the TX group had reduced activity in the left superior temporal gyrus in response to sleep images following CBTi. The superior temporal gyrus is a brain region that plays a role in numerous functions, such as auditory processing, language, and social cognition (Bigler et al., 2007). Two components of social cognition are theory of mind and emotion understanding. The former refers to a person's ability to ascribe mental states, such as beliefs, desires, or intentions, to themselves or to others. The latter involves a person's ability to comprehend or predict their own emotions or the emotions of others (Bulgarelli & Molina, 2016). This heightened activity in the superior temporal gyrus at baseline could mean that the participants with insomnia initially were more capable of relating to the sleep-related images (e.g., images of individuals struggling to sleep or appearing restless in the morning) because they also had sleep difficulties at baseline. Indeed, participants in the TX group had greater number of awakenings throughout the night and slightly greater insomnia severity than those in the WL group. However, after receiving CBTi, activity in this region may have decreased only in the TX group because these participants were no longer able to relate as much to these sleep-related images, especially after reporting improvements in their sleep. Given that participants in the WL group still had sleep difficulties over time, activity in this region could have been amplified because these participants were still able to relate to the situations that were portrayed in the sleep pictures. In a study by Drummond et al. (2001), they found that better performance on a free recall memory task was associated with greater activity in the left superior temporal gyrus following sleep deprivation. They suggested that brain activity
was heightened to help individuals acquire more cognitive resources; thus, their performance was not as impaired during the cognitive task. With improvements in subjective sleep measures in the TX group following CBTi, this may also indicate that activity in the superior temporal gyrus was reduced in the TX group because these participants did not require as many cognitive resources during the emotion task as those who were still awaiting treatment. Taken together, these findings suggest that reduced activity within the left superior temporal gyrus following CBTi may be associated with improvements in cognitive functioning or reactivity to sleep-related stimuli.

Although activity in the left insula increased in response to sleep images over time for the WL group, activity in this region decreased among participants in the TX group after receiving CBTi. Guadagni et al. (2018) reported that young, healthy individuals had greater activity in the right insula, rather than the left insula, and the right amygdala while viewing sleep images in contrast to scrambled images. In addition, Kim et al. (2017) indicated that activity in the right insula declined following CBTi in response to sleep images in adults with insomnia. In a review, Fan et al. (2011) suggested that the right anterior insula (right Brodmann areas 13/47) played a role in the affective-perceptual form of empathy, which means that empathy can automatically be induced without individuals explicitly knowing the objective of a study (Blakemore et al., 2005, as cited in Fan et al., 2011). On the contrary, the left anterior insula (left Brodmann area 13) was implicated in the affective-perceptual and cognitive-evaluative forms of empathy (Fan et al., 2011). The cognitive-evaluative form of empathy means that empathy is affected by an individual using their imagination or by assessing his or her feelings in response to a target (Fan & Han, 2008, as cited in Fan et al., 2011). Overall, these findings could signify that the feeling of empathy was less prevalent in participants in the TX group after CBTi while they evaluated the valence of sleep images. Once again, perhaps the ability of these participants to understand or relate to feelings or

emotions that were expressed in the negative, sleep-related images may be reduced. On the other hand, participants in the WL group, who were waiting for treatment and still had sleep disturbances, may be more capable of experiencing feelings of empathy toward these sleep-related images, and this may be reflected by greater activation in the left insula.

Neural Predictors of Treatment Response

We postulated that lower amygdala activity, while rating sleep-related pictures during the emotion reactivity task at baseline, would predict better subjective sleep outcomes among individuals with insomnia. Given that there was no activation within the amygdala in response to these images, we could not assess if amygdala activity at baseline predicted changes in total ISI score or in any of the sleep diary measures. But, Rubin-Falcone et al. (2020) previously investigated if neural correlates of emotion reactivity and emotion regulation predicted treatment response to cognitive-behavioural therapy for depression in adults with major depressive disorder. In line with the findings from our study, activity within the amygdala did not predict treatment response to sleep relative to neutral images were identified between those with insomnia and healthy sleepers in our study, these results were as expected. Nevertheless, it is plausible that activity in other brain regions during the emotion reactivity task could be predictors of CBTi treatment response.

When comparing the two insomnia groups, activity in the left angular gyrus and left middle frontal gyrus (Brodmann areas 39 and 6, respectively) in response to sleep relative to neutral images at baseline did not predict differential changes in total ISI scores or in the sleep diary measures either. Evidently, the left angular gyrus was proposed to be involved in numerous functions, including semantic and number processing, reading and comprehension, spatial and social cognition, and memory retrieval (Seghier, 2013). Given its role in social cognition, elevated activity in the left angular gyrus in response to sleep vs. neutral images at baseline could highlight that the participants with insomnia were able to empathize with the scenarios that were illustrated in the sleep-related images because they also had sleep disturbances at the start of the study. However, activity in this brain region did not seem to predict improvements in subjective sleep measures.

Brodmann area 6 consists of the premotor cortex and supplementary motor area. The former is involved in preparing for as well as engaging in a sequence of movements, whereas the latter deals with planning actions that are self-initiated mostly in the contralateral side of the body (Johns, 2014). Even though we did not examine reaction time during the emotion reactivity task, perhaps the participants with insomnia did not have to think for too long about how they would rate the sleep-related images compared with neutral images and were preparing to respond. To our knowledge, no study has focused on activity within this region or the angular gyrus to predict response to CBTi in adults with chronic primary insomnia. Nevertheless, Gallagher Thompson et al. (2015) were interested in examining if brain activity during an executive function task was predictive of response to CBT in older patients who were depressed. Although the left and right middle frontal gyri were two of their regions of interest, only greater activation within the right middle frontal gyrus at baseline was a predictor of improvements in depressive symptoms in these individuals. Based on a previous study, they stated that elevated activity in this region may be associated with better sustained attention and inhibitory control. Even though elevated activity in the right middle frontal gyrus at baseline during the emotion reactivity task did not predict improvements in sleep, this finding may indicate that sustained attention was enhanced at baseline

when participants with insomnia were exposed to sleep images. But, activation within this brain region did not appear to be indicative of better sleep following CBTi as well.

Limitations

This study has some potential limitations. For instance, the overall sample size as well as the number of participants in each group was quite small for an imaging study, even if we almost reached our target sample size of 10 participant per group. Thus, lack of power may explain why we did not observe significant differences, especially for analyses involving the fMRI data. Another potential limitation is that the good sleepers were only assessed once. Therefore, we could not make comparisons between the groups at V2. Another potential issue is that the arousal levels for the three types of images that were used in both versions of the emotion reactivity task, on average, were moderate. However, in Baglioni and colleagues' (2014) study, they selected images with high, moderate, and low arousal levels. If we compared neutral, negative, and sleep images with high arousal levels, we may have attained more promising results and may have seen activation within the amygdala. As previously mentioned, we also did not assess or account for dysfunctional beliefs about sleep. However, given our small sample size, we intentionally restricted the number of covariates that we included in our statistical analyses.

Strengths

Despite these limitations, this study also has some strengths. Participants were matched, based on age, sex, and education level. We were able to compare participants with insomnia and healthy sleepers at baseline. Although the good sleepers were only assessed once, we did have a wait-list control group who also served as an appropriate comparison at V2. Additionally, randomization of participants with insomnia was employed. In previous studies, researchers mostly assessed either subjective ratings or objective responses toward emotional stimuli instead of both within a single study. As both were measured in our study, we had a more comprehensive understanding about how responses varied across groups or time. Another strength of this study is that individualized CBTi was employed rather than CBTi in a group setting. Yamadera and colleagues (2013) found that both individualized and group CBTi were beneficial for sleep. However, individualized CBTi yielded better subjective and objective sleep outcomes than group CBTi in individuals with chronic primary insomnia.

Future Directions

There are several future directions. Although some studies have incorporated negative, neutral, and positive stimuli, future studies should also include positive stimuli that are both related and unrelated to sleep in the emotion reactivity task to have a more global and better understanding of the influence of CBTi on emotion reactivity in individuals with chronic primary insomnia (Motomura et al., 2021; Tempesta et al., 2019). Similar to Baglioni and colleagues' (2014) study, it would be interesting to examine habituation effects for ratings and brain responses, considering that images were only rated and presented once throughout the study. As we did not find statistically significant differences in amygdala activity between groups during the emotion reactivity task, we will continue the study until we reach the sample size of the larger research project. We will then see if we obtain the same results within the whole brain, including the amygdala, as this current study. Future studies should also explore how individuals respond to emotional images physiologically (e.g., heart rate, blood pressure, or galvanic skin responses). In a previous study, researchers used videos rather than images (Sanz-Arigita et al., 2021). Therefore, it would be interesting to see how participants with insomnia and good sleepers respond to dynamic emotional stimuli, such as video clips, rather than static images because they may elicit more activation or be more salient. In Kim and colleagues' (2021) study, insomnia participants with subjective-objective discrepancy of sleep had greater activity in the left fusiform, bilateral precuneus, right superior frontal gyrus, genu of the corpus callosum, and bilateral anterior corona radiata while viewing insomnia-related images relative to neutral images than those who did not have subjective-objective discrepancy of sleep. Thus, it would be interesting to assess if there is also a discrepancy between subjective ratings of images and objective brain activity in response to these emotional images prior to and following CBTi. These results would help us better understand the mechanism of CBTi for sleep and emotions from both a subjective and objective perspective. Given that CBTi did not seem to impact negative and positive affect in participants with chronic primary insomnia, future studies should evaluate if CBTi would be beneficial for improving sleep and emotions in individuals who suffer from both insomnia and mood disorders, such as major depressive disorder.

Conclusion

In conclusion, our results contribute to the body of knowledge about emotion reactivity, especially toward sleep stimuli, in chronic primary insomnia. Even though participants with insomnia rated sleep images as more negative than neutral images, there were no differences in amygdala activity between participants with insomnia and good sleepers in response to these sleep images. However, differences in activity within other brain regions at baseline were found between participants with insomnia and good sleepers specifically in response to negative images. Activity in the left superior temporal gyrus and left insula decreased following CBTi in the immediate treatment group, which may reflect improvements in cognitive functioning and emotions in response to sleep images. Lastly, activity within the left angular gyrus, and left middle frontal gyrus at baseline did not predict CBTi treatment response in individuals with insomnia.

References

- Akram, U. (2020). Perceptual differences in emotionally ambiguous neutral faces among individuals displaying clinically significant insomnia symptoms. *Perception*, 49, 1090– 1100. doi: 10.1177/0301006620954113
- Aldao, A., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Schweizer, S. (2010). Emotion-regulation strategies across psychopathology: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *30*, 217–237. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2009.11.004
- Altena, E., Micoulaud-Franchi, J.-A., Geoffroy, P.-A., Sanz-Arigita, E., Bioulac, S., & Philip, P. (2016). The bidirectional relation between emotional reactivity and sleep: From disruption to recovery. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *130*, 336–350. doi: 10.10137/bne0000128
- American Academy of Sleep Medicine. (2014). *International Classification of Sleep Disorders* (3rd ed.). Darien, IL: Author.
- American Psychological Association. (2007). *APA dictionary of psychology*. Washington, DC: Author.
- Anderson, K. N. (2017). Insomnia and cognitive behavioural therapy–How to assess your patient and why it should be a standard part of care. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 10(1, Suppl.), S94-S102. doi. 10.21037/jtd.2018.01.35

Baglioni, C., Lombardo, C., Bux, E., Hansen, S., Salveta, C., Biello, S., Violani, C., & Espie, C.
A. (2010). Psychophysiological reactivity to sleep-related emotional stimuli in primary insomnia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 48, 467–475. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2010.01.008

Baglioni, C., Spiegelhalder, K., Lombardo, C., & Riemann, D. (2010). Sleep and emotions: A

focus on insomnia. Sleep Medicine Reviews, 14, 227-238. doi:

10.1016/j.smrv.2009.10.007

- Baglioni, C., Spiegelhalder, K., Regen, W., Feige, B., Nissen, C., Lombardo, C., Violani, C.,
 Hennig, J., & Riemann, D. (2014). Insomnia disorder is associated with increased
 amygdala reactivity to insomnia-related stimuli. *SLEEP*, *37*, 1907–1917. doi:
 10.5665/sleep.4240
- Benca, R. M., Obermeyer, W. H., Thisted, R. A., & Gillin, J. C. (1992). Sleep and psychiatric disorders: A meta-analysis. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 49, 651–668. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1992.01820080059010
- Bigler, E. D., Mortensen, S., Neeley, E. S., Ozonoff, S., Krasny, L., Johnson, M., Lu, J.,
 Provencal, S. L., McMahon, W., & Lainhart, J. E. (2007). Superior temporal gyrus,
 language function, and autism. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, *31*, 217–238. doi:
 10.1080/87565640701190841
- Blanken, T. F., Benjamins, J. S., Borsboom, D., Vermont, J. K., Paquola, C., Ramautar, J.,
 Dekker, K., Stoffers, D., Wassing, R., Wei, Y., & Van Someren, E. J. W. (2019).
 Insomnia disorder subtypes derived from life history and traits of affect and personality. *Lancet Psychiatry*, 6, 151–163. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30464-4
- Bouwmans, M., Bos, E. H., Hoenders, H., Oldehinkel, A. J., & de Jonge, P. (2017). Sleep quality predicts positive and negative affect but not vice versa. An electronic diary study in depressed and healthy individuals. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 207, 260–267. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.09.046
- Breiter, H. C., Etcoff, N. L., Whalen, P. J., Kennedy, W. A., Rauch, S. L., Bucker, R. L., Strauss,M. M., Hyman, S. E., & Rosen, B. R. (1996). Response and habituation of the human

amygdala during visual processing of facial expression. *Neuron*, *17*, 875–887. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80219-6

- Bulgarelli, D., & Molina, P. (2016). Social cognition in preschoolers: Effects of early experience and individual differences. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7 1762. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01762
- Buysse, D. J., Thompson, W., Scott, J., Franzen, P. L., Germain, A., Hall, M. L., Moul, D. E., Nofzinger, E. A., & Kupfer, D. J. (2007). Daytime symptoms in primary insomnia: A prospective analysis using ecological momentary assessment. *Sleep Medicine*, *8*, 198– 208. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2006.10.006
- Cerolini, S., Ballesio, A., & Lombardo, C. (2015). Insomnia and emotion regulation: Recent findings and suggestions for treatment. *Journal of Sleep Disorders and Management*, *1*(1), 1–5. doi: 10.23937/2572-4053.1510001
- Cerullo, M. A., Eliassen, J. C., Smith, C. T., Fleck, D. E., Nelson, E. B., Strawn, J. R., Lamy, M., DelBello, M. P., Adler, C. M., & Strakowski, S. M. (2014). Bipolar I disorder and major depressive disorder show similar brain activation during depression. *Bipolar Disorders*, 16, 703–712. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12225
- Cervena, K., Dauvilliers, Y., Espa, F., Touchon, J., Matousek, M., Billiard, M., & Besset, A. (2004). Effect of cognitive behavioural therapy for insomnia on sleep architecture and sleep EEG power spectra in psychophysiological insomnia. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *13*, 385–393. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2004.00431.x
- Dong, X., Qin, H., Wu, T., Hu, H., Liao, K., Cheng, F., Gao, D., & Lei, X. (2017). Rest but busy:
 Aberrant resting-state functional connectivity of triple network model in insomnia. *Brain* and Behavior, 8(2), 1–9. doi: 10.1002/brb3.876

Drummond, S. P. A., Gillin, C., & Brown, G. G. (2001). Increased cerebral response during a divided attention task following sleep deprivation. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *10*, 85–92. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2869.2001.00245.x

El Khoury-Malhame, M., Reynaud, E., Soriano, A., Michael, K., Salgado-Pineda, P.,
Zendjidjian, X., Gellato, C., Eric, F., Lefebvre, M.-N., Rouby, F., Samuelian, J.-C.,
Anton, J.-L., Blin, O., & Khalfa, S. (2011). Amygdala activity correlates with attentional
bias in PTSD. *Neuropsychologia*. 49, 1969–1973. doi:
10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.03.025

- Elkin, L. A., Kay, M., Higgins, J., & Wobbrock, J. O. (2021). An aligned rank transform procedure for multifactor contrast tests. *Proceedings of the ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, 754–768. doi: 10.1145/3472749.3474784
- Elliott, R., Friston, K. J., & Dolan, R. J. (2000). Dissociable neural responses in human reward systems. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 6159–6165. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.20-16-06159.2000
- Fan, Y., Duncan, N. W., de Greck, M., & Northoff, G. (2011). Is there a core neural network in empathy? An fMRI based quantitative meta-analysis. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35, 903–911. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.10.009
- Fonov, V. S., Evans, A. C., McKinstry, R. C., Almli, C. R., & Collins, D. L. (2009). Unbiased nonlinear average age-appropriate brain templates from birth to adulthood. *NeuroImage*, 47(1, Suppl.), S102. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(09)70884-5
- Galbiati, A., Sforza, M., Fasiello, E., Casoni, F., Marrella, N., Leitner, C., Zucconi, M., & Ferini-Strambi, L. (2020). The association between emotional dysregulation and REM sleep features in insomnia disorder. *Brain and Cognition*, *146*, 105642. doi:

10.1016/j.bandc.2020.105642

- Gallagher Thompson, D., Kesler, S. R., Sudheimer, K., Mehendra Mehta, K., Thompson, L. W., Marquett, R. M., Holland, J. M., Reiser, R., Rasgon, N., Schatzberg, A., & O'Hara, R. M. (2015). fMRI activation during executive function predicts response to cognitive behavioral therapy in older, depressed adults. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 23, 13–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2014.02.001
- Gray, J. A., & McNaughton, N. (2000). The neuropsychology of anxiety: An enquiry into the functions of the septo-hippocampal system (2nd ed.). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Gross, J. J. (Ed.). (2014). Handbook of emotion regulation (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes:
 Implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85, 348–362. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348
- Guadagni, V., Burles, F., Ferrara, M., & Iaria, G. (2018). Sleep quality and its association with the insular cortex in emotional empathy. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 48, 2288– 2300. doi: 10.1111/ejn.14124
- Harvey, A. G. (2002). A cognitive model of insomnia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 40, 869–893. doi: 10.1016/s0005-7967(01)00061-4
- Harvey, A. G., Stinson, K., Whitaker, K. L., Moskovitz, D., & Virk, H. (2008). The subjective meaning of sleep quality: A comparison of individuals with and without insomnia. *SLEEP*, 31, 383–393. doi: 10.1093/sleep/31.3.383
- Hattingh, C. J., Ipser, J., Tromp, S. A., Syal, S., Lochner, C., Brooks, S. J., & Stein, D. J. (2013).Functional magnetic resonance imaging during emotion recognition in social anxiety

disorder: An activation likelihood meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *6*, 347. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00347

- Hazlett, E. A., Zhang, J., New, A. S., Zelmanova, Y., Goldstein, K. E., Haznedar, M. M.,
 Meyerson, D., Goodman, M., Siever, L. J., & Chu, K.-W. (2012). Potentiated amygdala
 response to repeated emotional pictures in borderline personality disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 72, 448–456. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.03.027
- Howlett, R. D. M., Lustig, K. A., MacDonald, K. J., & Cote, K. A. (2020). Hyperarousal is associated with socioemotional processing in individuals with insomnia and good sleepers. *Brain Sciences*, *10*(2), 1–22. doi: 10.3390/brainsci10020112
- Huang, Z., Liang, P., Jia, X., Zhan, S., Li, N., Ding, Y., Lu, J. (2012). Abnormal amygdala connectivity in patients with primary insomnia: Evidence from resting state fMRI. *European Journal of Radiology*, *81*, 1288–1295. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2011.03.029
- Jansson-Fröjmark, M., Bermås, M., & Kjellén, A. (2013). Attentional bias in insomnia: The dotprobe task with pictorial stimuli depicting daytime fatigue/malaise. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *37*, 534–546. doi: 10.1007/s10608-012-9486-z
- Jansson-Fröjmark, M., Norell-Clarke, A., & Linton, S. J. (2016). The role of emotion dysregulation in insomnia: Longitudinal findings from a large community sample. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 21, 93–113. doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12147
- Johns, P. (2014). Clinical neuroscience: An illustrated colour text. Churchill Livingstone Elsevier.
- Johnson, E. O., Roth, T., & Breslau, N. (2006). The association of insomnia with anxiety disorders and depression: Exploration of the direction of risk. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 40, 700–706. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2006.07.008

- Kales, A., Caldwell, A. B., & Preston, T. A. (1976). Personality patterns in insomnia: Theoretical implications. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *33*, 1128–1134. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1976.01770090
- Kahn, M., Sheppes, G., & Sadeh, A. (2013). Sleep and emotions: Bidirectional links and underlying mechanisms. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, *89*, 218–228. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.05.010
- Kay, M., Elkin, L. A., Higgins, J. J., & Wobbrock, J. O. (2021). ARTool: Aligned rank transform for nonparametric factorial ANOVAs. R package version 0.11.1, https://github.com/mjskay/ARTool. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.594511
- Kim, N., Kang, S.-G., Lee, Y. J., Kim, S. J., Kim, S., Choi, J.-W., Oh, S. M., Park, J., Gwak, A.
 R., Kim, H.-K., & Jeong, D.-U. (2019). Decreased regional brain activity in response to sleep-related sounds after cognitive behavioral therapy for psychophysiological insomnia. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *73*, 254–26. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12822
- Kim, S. J., Lee, Y. J., Kim, N., Kim, S., Choi, J.-W., Park, J., Gwak, A. R., Kang, C.-K., Kang, S.-G., & Jeong, D.-U. (2017). Exploration of changes in the brain response to sleeprelated pictures after cognitive-behavioral therapy for psychophysiological insomnia. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 1–10. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13065-0
- Kim, Y.-B., Kim, N., Lee, J. J., Cho, S.-E., Na, K.-S., & Kang, S.-G. (2021). Brain reactivity using fMRI to insomnia stimuli in insomnia patients with discrepancy between subjective and objective sleep. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 1–10. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-81219-2
- Knutson, B., Fong, G. W., Adams, C. M., Varner, J. L., & Hommer, D. (2001). Dissociation of reward anticipation and outcome with event-related fMRI. *Neuroreport*, *12*, 3683–3687. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200112040-00016

- Koffel, E., Bramoweth, A. D., & Ulmer, C. S. (2018). Increasing access to and utilization of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia (CBT-I): A narrative review. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 33, 955–962. doi: 10.1007/s11606-018-4390-1
- Lane, R. D., Reiman, E. M., Axelrod, B., Yun, L. S., Holmes, A., & Schwartz, G. E. (1998).
 Neural correlates of levels of emotional awareness: Evidence of an interaction between emotion and attention in the anterior cingulate cortex. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *10*, 525–535. doi: 10.1162/089892998562924
- Latif, I., Hughes, A. T. L., & Bendall, R. C. A. (2019). Positive and negative affect mediate the influences of a maladaptive emotion regulation strategy on sleep quality. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10, 1–7. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00628
- Lee, Y.-J. G., Kim, S., Kim, N., Choi, J.-W., Park, J., Kim, S. J., Gwak, A. R., & Lee, Y. J. (2018). Changes in subcortical resting-state functional connectivity in patients with psychophysiological insomnia after cognitive-behavioral therapy: Changes in restingstate FC after CBT for insomnia patients. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 17, 115–123. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.10.013
- Levenson, J. C., Kay, D. B., & Buysse, D. J. (2015). The pathophysiology of insomnia. *Chest*, 147, 1179–1192. doi: 10.1378/chest.14-1617
- Li, C., Dong, M., Yin, Y., Hua, K., Fu, S., & Jiang, G. (2017). Abnormal whole-brain functional connectivity in patients with primary insomnia. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, *13*, 427–435. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S128811
- Maldjian, J. A., Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., & Kraft, R. A. (2003). An automated method for neuroanatomic and cytoarchitectonic atlas-based interrogation of fMRI data sets. *NeuroImage*, 19, 1233–1239. doi: 10.1016/s1053-8119(03)00169-1

- Maldjian, J. A., Laurienti, P. J., & Burdette, J. H. (2004). Discrepancy in electronic versions of the Talairach atlas. *NeuroImage*, *21*, 450–455. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.09.032
- Marchewka, A., Zurawski, L., Jednoróg, K., & Grabowska, A. (2014). The Nencki Affective
 Picture System (NAPS): Introduction to a novel, standardized, wide-range, high-quality,
 realistic picture database. *Behavior Research Methods*, *46*, 596–610. doi:
 10.3758/s13428-013-0379-1
- Marques, D. R., Gomes, A. A., Clemente, V., dos Santos, J. M., Duarte, I. C., Caetano, G., & Castelo-Branco, M. (2017). Unbalanced resting-state networks activity in psychophysiological insomnia. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, *15*, 167–177. doi: 10.1007/s41105-017-0096-8
- Mayberg, H. S., Liotti, M., Brannan, S. K., McGinnis, S., Mahurin, R. K., Jarabek, P. A., Silva, J. A., Tekell, J. L., Marin, C. C., Lancaster, J. L., & Fox, P. T. (1999). Reciprocal limbic-cortical function and negative mood: converging PET findings in depression and normal sadness. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *156*, 675–682. doi: 10.1176/ajp.156.5.675
- Menon, V., & Uddin, L. Q. (2010). Saliency, switching, attention and control: A network model of insula function. *Brain Structure and Function*, 214, 655–667. doi: 10.1007/s00429-010-0262-0
- Morin, C. M. (2006). Cognitive-behavioral therapy of insomnia. *Sleep Medicine Clinics*, *1*, 375–386. doi: 10.1016/j.jsmc.2006.06.008
- Morin, C. M., Hauri, P. J., Espie, C. A., Spielman, A. J., Buysse, D. J., & Bootzin, R. R. (1999).
 Nonpharmacologic treatment of chronic insomnia: An American Academy of Sleep
 Medicine Review. *SLEEP*, *22*, 1134–1156. doi: 10.1093/sleep/22.8.1134

Morin, C. M., Belleville, G., Bélanger, L., & Ivers, H. (2011). The Insomnia Severity Index:

Psychometric indicators to detect insomnia cases and evaluate treatment response.

SLEEP, 34, 601-608. doi: 10.1093/sleep/34.5.601

- Motomura, Y., Katsunuma, R., Ayabe, N., Oba, K., Terasawa, Y., Kitamura, S., Moriguchi, Y.,
 Hida, A., Kamei, Y., & Mishima, K. (2021). Decreased activity in the reward network of chronic insomnia patients. *Scientific Reports*, *11*, 1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-79989-2
- Naor, N., Rohr, C., Schaare, L. H., Limbachia, C., Shamay-Tsoory, S., & Okon-Singer, H.
 (2020). The neural networks underlying reappraisal of empathy for pain. *Social Cognitive* and Affective Neuroscience, 15, 733–744. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsaa094
- Narmandakh, A., Oldehinkel, A. J., Masselink, M., de Jonge, P., & Roest, A. M. (2021). Affect, worry, and sleep: Between- and within-subject associations in a diary study. *Journal of Affective Disorders Reports*, 4, 100134. doi: 10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100134
- Ohayon, M. M., & Roth, T. (2003). Place of chronic insomnia in the course of depressive and anxiety disorders. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 37, 9–15. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3956(02)00052-3
- Okajima, I., Nakajima, S., Ochi, M., & Inoue, Y. (2014). Reducing dysfunctional beliefs about sleep does not significantly improve insomnia in cognitive behavioral therapy. *PLoS One*, 9(7), 1–5. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0102565
- Ong, J. C., Cardé, N. B., Gross, J. J., & Manber, R. (2011). A two-dimensional approach to assessing affective states in good and poor sleepers. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 20, 606– 610. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2011.00907.x
- Ong, J. C., Kuo, T. F., & Manber, R. (2008). Who is at risk for dropout from group cognitivebehavior therapy for insomnia. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *64*, 419–425. doi:

10.1016/j.jpsychores.2007.10.009

- Ong, J. C., Shapiro, S. L., & Manber, R. (2009). Mindfulness meditation and cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia: A naturalistic 12-month follow-up. *Explore*, 5, 30–36. doi: 10.1016/j.explore.2008.10.004
- Pagnoni, G., Zink, C. F., Montague, P. R., & Berns, G. S. (2002). Activity in human ventral striatum locked to errors of reward prediction. *Nature Neuroscience*, *5*, 97–98. doi: 10.1038/nn802
- Palagini, L., Moretto, U., Dell'Osso, L., & Carney, C. (2017). Sleep-related cognitive processes, arousal, and emotion dysregulation in insomnia disorder: The role of insomnia-specific rumination. *Sleep Medicine*, 30, 97–104. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2016.11.004
- Palagini, L., Moretto, U., Novi, M., Masci, I., Caruso, D., Drake, C. L., & Riemann, D. (2018).
 Lack of resilience is related to stress-related sleep reactivity, hyperarousal, and emotion dysregulation in insomnia disorder. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 14, 759–766. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.7100
- Phelps, E. A., O'Connor, K. J., Gatenby, C., Gore, J. C., Grillon, C., & Davis, M. (2001). Activation of the left amygdala to a cognitive representation of fear. *Nature Neuroscience*, *4*, 437–441. doi: 10.1038/86110
- Phillips, M. L., Drevets, W. C., Rauch, S. L., & Lane, R. (2003). Neurobiology of emotion perception I: The neural basis of normal emotion perception. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54, 504–514. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00168-9
- Pigeon, W. R. (2010). Treatment of adult insomnia with cognitive-behavioral therapy. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 66, 1148–1160. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20737

Raichle, M. E., Fiez, J. A., Videen, T. O., MacLeod, A. M., Pardo, J. V., Fox, P. T., & Petersen,

S. E. (1994). Practice-related changes in human brain functional anatomy during nonmotor learning. *Cerebral Cortex*, *4*(1), 8–26. doi: 10.1093/cercor/4.1.8

- Reiman, E. M., Lane, R. D., Ahern, G. L., Schwartz, G. E., Davidson, R. J., Friston, K. J., Yun, L.-S., & Chen, K. (1997). Neuroanatomical correlates of externally and internally generated human emotion. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *154*, 918–925. doi: 10.1176.ajp.154.7.918
- Riemann, D., Spiegelhalder, K., Feige, B., Voderholzer, U., Berger, M., Perlis, M., & Nissen,
 C. (2010). The hyperarousal model of insomnia: A review of the concept and its
 evidence. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *14*(1), 19–31. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2009.04.002
- Rubin-Falcone, H., Weber, J., Kishon, R., Ochsner, K., Delaparte, L., Doré, B., Raman, S.,
 Denny, B. T., Oquendo, M. A., Mann, J. J., & Miller, J. M. (2020). Neural predictors and effects of cognitive behavioral therapy for depression: The role of emotional reactivity and regulation. *Psychological Medicine*, *50*, 146–160. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718004154
- Sanz-Arigita, E., Daviaux, Y., Joliot, M., Dilharreguy, B., Micoulaud-Franchi, J.-A., Bioulac, S., Taillard, J., Philip, P., & Altena, E. (2021). Brain reactivity to humorous films is affected by insomnia. *SLEEP*, 44(9), 1–8. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsab081
- Saxon, L., Henriksson, S., Kvarnström, A., & Hiltunen, A. J. (2017). Affective changes during cognitive behavioural therapy–As measured by PANAS. *Clinical Practice & Epidemiology in Mental Health*, 13, 115–124. doi: 10.2174/1745017901713010115
- Seghier, M. L. (2013). The angular gyrus: Multiple functions and multiple subdivisions. *The Neuroscientist*, *19*, 43–61. doi: 10.1177/1073858412440596
- Sharma, M. P., & Andrade, C. (2012). Behavioral interventions for insomnia: Theory and practice. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, *54*, 359–366. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.104825

- Shin, L. M., Dougherty, D. D., Orr, S. P., Pitman, R. K., Lasko, M., Macklin, M. L., Alpert, N. M., Fischman, A. J., & Rauch, S. L. (2000). Activation of anterior paralimbic structures during guilt-related script-driven imagery. *Biological Psychiatry*, 48, 43–50. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3223(00)00251-1
- Shrivastava, D., Jung, S., Saadat, M., Sirohi, R., & Crewson, K. (2014). How to interpret the results of a sleep study. *Journal of Community Hospital Internal Medicine Perspectives*, *4*. doi: 10.3402/jchimp.v4.24983
- Spiegelhalder, K., Baglioni, C., Regen, W., Kyle, S. D., Nissen, C., Hennig, J., Doerr, J.-P.,
 Feige, B., & Riemann, D. (2018). Brain reactivity and selective attention to sleep-related words in patients with chronic insomnia. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, *16*, 587–600. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2016.1253014
- Spielman, A. J., Caruso, L. S., & Glovinsky, P. B. (1987). A behavioral perspective on insomnia treatment. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 10, 541–553. doi: 10.1016/S0193-953X(18)30532-X
- Sprengelmeyer, R., Young, A. W., Calder, A. J., Karnat, A., Lange, H., & Homberg, V. (1996). Loss of disgust: Perception of faces and emotions in Huntington's disease. *Brain*, 119, 1647–1665. doi: 10.1093/brain/119.5.1647
- Talbot, L. S., Stone, S., Gruber, J., Hairston, I. S., Eidelman, P., & Harvey, A. G. (2012). A test of the bidirectional association between sleep and mood in bipolar disorder and insomnia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(1), 39–50. doi: 10.1037/a0024946
- Tamir, M. (2016). Why do people regulate their emotions? A taxonomy of motives in emotion regulation. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 20, 199–222. doi: 10.1177/1088868315586325

- Tempesta, D., Salfi, F., De Gennaro, L., & Ferrara, M. (2019). The impact of five nights of sleep restriction on emotional reactivity. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 29, e13022. doi: 10.1111/jsr.13022
- Teng, C., Zhou, J., Ma, H., Tan, Y., Wu, X., Guan, C., Qiao, H., Li, J., Zhong, Y., Wang, C., & Zhang, N. (2018). Abnormal resting state activity of left middle occipital gyrus and its functional connectivity in female patients with major depressive disorder. *BMC Psychiatry*, *18*, 370. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1955-9
- Thakral, M., Von Korff, M., McCurry, S. M., Morin, C. M., & Vitiello, M. V. (2020). Changes in dysfunctional beliefs about sleep after cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *49*, 101230. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2019.101230
- Toschi, N., Passamonti, L., & Bellesi, M. (2021). Sleep quality relates to emotional reactivity via intracortical myelination. *SLEEP*, *44*(1), 1–12. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsaa146
- Tucker, D. M., Luu, P., & Pribram, K. H. (1995). Social and emotional self-regulation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 769(1), 213–240. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1995.tb38141
- Tyng, C. M., Amin, H. U., Saad, M. N. M., & Malik, A. S. (2017). The influences of emotion on learning and memory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 1454. doi: 10.3389/psyg.2017.01454
- van der Zweerde, T., Bisdounis, L., Kyle, S. D., Lancee, J., & van Straten, A. (2019). Cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia: A meta-analysis of long-term effects in controlled studies. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *48*, 101208. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2019.08.002

Van Houdenhove, L., Buyse, B., Gabriëls, & Van den Bergh, O. (2011). Treating primary

insomnia: Clinical effectiveness and predictors of outcomes on sleep, daytime function and health-related quality of life. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, *18*, 312–321. doi: 10.1007/s10880-011-9250-7

- Vytal, K., & Hamann, S. (2010). Neuroimaging support for discrete neural correlates of basic emotions: A voxel-based meta-analysis. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22, 2864– 2885. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21366
- Wagner, U., Fischer, S., & Born, J. (2002). Changes in emotional responses to aversive pictures across periods rich in slow-wave sleep versus rapid eye movement sleep. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 64, 627–634. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000021940.35402.51
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54, 1063–1070. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Wobbrock, J. O., Findlater, L., Gergle, D., & Higgins, J. J. (2011). The aligned rank transform for nonparametric factorial analyses using only ANOVA procedures. *Proceedings of the ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 143–146. doi: 10.1145/1978942.1978963
- Wright, C. D., Tiani, A. G., Billingsley, A. L., Steinman, S. A., Larkin, K. T., & McNeil, D. W. (2019). A framework for understanding the role of psychological processes in disease development, maintenance, and treatment: The 3P-disease model. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, 2498. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02498
- Wu, R., Bao, J., Zhang, C., Deng, J., & Long, C. (2006). Comparison of sleep condition and sleep-related psychological activity after cognitive-behavior and pharmacological therapy for chronic insomnia. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 75, 220–228. doi:

10.1159/000092892

- Wu, Y. M., Pietrone, R., Cashmere, J. D., Begley, A., Miewald, J. M., Germain, A., & Buysse,
 D. J. (2013). EEG power during waking and NREM sleep in primary insomnia. *Journal* of *Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *9*, 1031–1037. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.3076
- Yamadera, W., Sato, M., Harada, D., Iwashita, M., Aoki, R., Obuchi, K., Ozone, M., Itoh, H., & Nakayama, K. (2013). Comparisons of short-term efficacy between individual and group cognitive behavioral therapy for primary insomnia. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, *11*, 176–184. doi: 10.1111/sbr.12019
- Zakiei, A., Khazaie, H., Reshadat, S., Rezaei, M., & Komasi, S. (2020). The comparison of emotional dysregulation and experiential avoidance in patients with insomnia and nonclinical population. *Journal of Caring Sciences*, 9, 87–92. doi: 10.34172/jcs.2020.013
- Zou, G., Li, Y., Liu, J., Zhou, S., Xu, J., Qin, L., Shao, Y., Yao, P., Sun, H., & Zou, Q. (2021).
 Altered thalamic connectivity in insomnia disorder during wakefulness and sleep. *Human Brain Mapping*, 42, 259–270. doi: 10.1002/hbm.25221

Appendix A: Valence, Arousal, and Sleep Ratings for Sleep-Related Images Obtained from the Amazon Mechanical Turk Survey

Table A1

Valence, arousal, and sleep ratings for sleep-related images in each version of the emotion reactivity task in participants with insomnia and good sleepers

Rating Type	Version 1				Version 2			
	INS		INS Good Sleepers		INS		Good Sleepers	
	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
Valence	2.60	0.74	3.10	0.76	2.80	0.61	3.40	0.57
Arousal	6.70	0.67	5.90	0.75	6.60	0.53	5.80	0.40
Sleep	6.90	0.52	6.50	0.59	6.80	0.45	6.20	0.53

Note. INS: participants with insomnia; Data are from good sleepers and participants with insomnia who completed the survey on the

Amazon Mechanical Turk platform

Table B1

Cronbach's alpha coefficients for the PANAS and ISI scores across time

Visit	Measure	All participants	Insomnia	Good Sleepers	TX	WL
		(N = 26)	(<i>N</i> = 18)	(N = 8)	(N = 9)	(N = 9)
V0						
	PANAS – PA	.89	.91	.87	.84	.89
	PANAS – NA	.79	.82	.19	.59	.88
V1						
	ISI	.93	.66	.56	.66	.46
V2						
	PANAS – PA		.95		.92	.93
	PANAS – NA		.93		.60	.96
	ISI		.91		.77	.78

Note. The data are Cronbach's alpha coefficients. PA: positive affect; NA: negative affect

Appendix C: Subjective Sleep Data Between Groups

Figure C1

Differences in total ISI scores between good sleepers and participants with insomnia at V1



Note. *: *p* < .001. GS: good sleeper group; INS: insomnia group

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р
Group	1	16	5.14	.04
Visit	1	16	30.30	< .001
Group*Visit	1	16	20.13	< .001

Analysis of Variance Results for the Total Insomnia Severity Index Score

Note. ANOVA type III test

Figure C2

Total ISI scores between the insomnia groups at V1 and V2



Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

	Insomnia	Good Sleepers	
Sleep Measure	(N = 18)	(N=8)	p
SOL (minutes)	32.12 (20.25)	16.10 (13.62)	.03
WASO (#)	2.13 (1.47)	0.59 (0.39)	< .001
WASO (minutes)	33.30 (23.29)	8.04 (5.53)	<.001
TST (hours)	6.52 (0.99)	7.43 (0.66)	.01
SE (%)	80.02 (7.85)	89.39 (5.45)	.01

Average subjective sleep measures for participants with insomnia and good sleepers after V0

Note. Data are mean (*SD*). SOL: sleep onset latency; WASO: wake after sleep onset; TST: total sleep time; SE: sleep efficiency

Average subjective sleep measures for the immediate treatment and wait-list groups at V1 and

V2

	T	X	WL		
Sleep Measure	(<i>N</i> =	= 9)	(N	(= 9)	
-	V1	V2	V1	V2	
SOL (minutes)	35.26 (27.64)	19.83 (16.68)	23.84 (15.00)	21.82 (10.70)	
WASO (#)	2.57 (1.17)	1.76 (0.96)	1.34 (1.19)	1.87 (1.55)	
WASO (minutes)	55.46 (36.18)	22.96 (17.47)	38.05 (37.80)	28.99 (21.83)	
TST (hours)	6.65 (1.16)	7.15 (0.99)	6.54 (0.53)	6.37 (0.38)	
SE (%)	78.60 (9.44)	87.99 (6.29)	81.25 (10.85)	81.19 (5.68)	

Note. Data are mean (*SD*). SOL: sleep onset latency; WASO: wake after sleep onset; TST: total sleep time; SE: sleep efficiency

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р
Group	1	16	0.01	.90
Visit	1	16	4.58	.05
Group*Visit	1	16	3.82	.07

Analysis of Variance Results for Sleep Onset Latency

Note. ANOVA type III test

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р
Group	1	16	2.04	.17
Visit	1	16	0.39	.54
Group*Visit	1	16	6.85	.02

Analysis of Variance Results for Number of Awakenings After Sleep Onset

Note. ANOVA type III test

Figure C3





Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р	η^2
Group	1	16	0.24	.63	0.01
Visit	1	16	7.20	.02	0.12
Group*Visit	1	16	2.29	.15	0.04

Analysis of Variance Results for Duration of Awakenings

Note. ANOVA type III test

Figure C4





Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group; * p < .05

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р	η^2
Group	1	16	1.41	.25	0.07
Visit	1	16	1.97	.18	0.01
Group*Visit	1	16	8.26	.01	0.04

Analysis of Variance Results for Total Sleep Time

Note. ANOVA type III test

Figure C5





Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group
Table C8

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р	η^2
Group	1	16	0.39	.54	0.02
Visit	1	16	5.03	.04	0.08
Group*Visit	1	16	5.16	.04	0.08

Analysis of Variance Results for Sleep Efficiency

Appendix D: Positive and Negative Affect Data

Figure D1

No differences in total positive affect between good sleepers and participants with insomnia at V0



Note. GS: good sleeper group; INS: insomnia group

Figure D2

Differences in total negative affect between good sleepers and





Note. *: *p* = .02. GS: good sleeper group; INS: insomnia group





Total positive affect between insomnia groups at V1 and V2

Figure D4

Total negative affect between insomnia groups at V1 and V2

Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

Table D1

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р	η^2
Group	1	16	9.92	.01	0.33
Visit	1	16	0.01	.92	0.00
Group*Visit	1	16	0.85	.37	0.01

Analysis of Variance Results for PANAS – Positive Affect

Table D2

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р
Group	1	16	0.89	.36
Visit	1	16	4.15	.06
Group*Visit	1	16	1.32	.27

Analysis of Variance Results for PANAS – Negative Affect

Appendix E: Valence Ratings Data

Figure E1

Differences in valence ratings of images between good sleepers and participants with insomnia

at Vl





Table E1

1 wo-way repeated t	neusures	лиотлези	us joi vaienee	raungs ai v i	
Source	df	dfresidual	F	р	η^2
Group	1	24	5.06	.03	0.12
Condition	1.62	38.84	98.93	< .001	0.59
Group*Condition	1.62	38.84	2.66	.09	0.04

Two-way repeated measures ANOVA results for valence ratings at V1

Table E2

	Ins	somnia	Good	sleepers
	(n	<i>n</i> = 18)	(<i>n</i>	= 8)
Image Category	М	SD	М	SD
Neutral	1.93	0.49	1.55	0.47
Negative	3.68	0.62	3.47	0.47
Sleep	3.06	0.76	2.27	0.57

Average valence ratings for participants with insomnia and good sleepers at V1

Figure E2



Mean rating of neutral images between the insomnia groups at V1 and V2

Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

Table E3

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р
Group	1	16	0.06	.81
Visit	1	16	8.12	.01
Group*Visit	1	16	0.28	.60

Analysis of Variance Results for Ratings of Neutral Images

Figure E3

Mean rating of negative images between the insomnia groups at V1 and V2



Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

Table E4

Source	df	dfresidual	F	р	η^2
Group	1	16	0.29	.60	0.02
Visit	1	16	8.71	.01	0.07
Group*Visit	1	16	0.16	.69	0.00

Analysis of Variance Results for Ratings of Negative Images

Figure E4



Mean rating of sleep images between the insomnia groups at V1 and V2

Note. Error bars represent standard error of the mean; TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

Table E5

 η^2 Source df Fdfresidual р Group 16 0.53 .48 0.03 1 Visit 0.01 16 1.76 1 .20 Group*Visit 1 16 0.55 0.00 .47

Analysis of Variance Results for Ratings of Sleep Images

Appendix F: Activated Brain Regions in Response to Images Relative to Baseline

Figure F1

Activated brain regions in response to neutral images relative to baseline in good sleepers and participants with insomnia at V1



Note. GS: good sleepers; Top panel: Good sleepers; Bottom panel: Insomnia group (TX and WL)

Figure F2

Activated brain regions in response to negative images relative to baseline in good sleepers and

participants with insomnia at V1



Note. GS: good sleepers; Top panel: Good sleepers; Bottom panel: Insomnia group (TX and WL)

Figure F3

Activated brain regions in response to sleep images relative to baseline in good sleepers and

participants with insomnia at V1



Note. GS: good sleepers; Top panel: Good sleepers; Bottom panel: Insomnia group (TX and WL)

Clusters statistically significantly more activated in response to neutral images vs. baseline in good sleepers at V1

		Cluster-level			Peak-level			
Brain region	Coordinates	Cluster size	puncorrected	t	ZE	puncorrected		
(BA)	(x, y, z)	(voxels)						
Left middle occipital gyrus (18)	-26, -94, 16	892	< .001	31.38	4.99	<.001		
Left lingual gyrus (18)	-18, -102, 2			21.92	4.63	< .001		
Left declive	-30, -88, -16			17.20	4.37	< .001		
Right lingual gyrus (17)	24, -88, 10	1593	< .001	20.43	4.56	< .001		
Right fusiform gyrus (37)	48, -60, -16			14.55	4.19	< .001		
Right middle occipital gyrus (18)	30, -84, -8			13.72	4.13	< .001		
Left middle frontal gyrus (9)	-50, 28, 32	30	.09	19.05	4.48	< .001		
Left culmen	-30, -46, -22	276	< .001	16.78	4.35	< .001		
Left culmen	-18, -46, -18			12.03	3.98	< .001		
Left culmen	-26, -34, -22			9.09	3.64	< .001		
Left parahippocampus (27)	-24, -34, -8	89	.01	14.40	4.18	< .001		

Left lingual gyrus (18)	-2, -72, 4	83	.01	13.76	4.13	<.001
Right lingual gyrus (18)	2, -78, 8			8.93	3.62	< .001
Left inferior parietal lobule (40)	-48, -36, 50	176	< .001	13.45	4.10	< .001
Left inferior parietal lobule (40)	-46, -48, 56			9.75	3.73	< .001
Left supramarginal gyrus (40)	-48, -40, 36			7.59	3.42	< .001
Left superior parietal lobule (7)	-30, -58, 50	82	.01	12.68	4.04	< .001
Right cerebellar tonsil	24, -60, -38	236	< .001	12.40	4.01	< .001
Right inferior semi-lunar lobule	26, -68, -42			9.36	3.68	< .001
Right cerebellar tonsil	16, -58, -36			8.57	3.57	< .001
Left declive	-42, -72, -14	116	.003	11.68	3.94	< .001
Left declive	-30, -74, -14			6.45	3.21	.001
Left claustrum	-34, -4, -6	441	< .001	11.01	3.87	< .001
Left lentiform nucleus (putamen)	-26, -14, 4			9.82	3.74	< .001
Left culmen	-6, -60, -8	52	.03	10.81	3.85	< .001
Right lateral geniculum body	24, -24, -4	192	< .001	10.31	3.79	<.001
Right thalamus (pulvinar)	24, -32, 4			9.76	3.73	< .001

Right thalamus (ventral	18, -18, -2			8.34	3.54	<.001
posteromedial nucleus)						
Left middle frontal gyrus (9)	-24, 48, 34	7	.40	9.52	3.70	< .001
Right middle frontal gyrus (9)	58, 28, 28	5	.48	9.12	3.65	<.001
Right lentiform nucleus (putamen)	20, 2, 2	55	.03	9.01	3.63	< .001
Left lingual gyrus (18)	-18, -78, -2	11	.29	8.69	3.59	< .001
Brain stem	0, -36, -34	13	.25	8.55	3.57	< .001
Left inferior frontal gyrus (47)	-48, 30, -10	11	.29	8.45	3.55	<.001
Left inferior frontal gyrus (46)	-54, 44, -4	21	.15	8.29	3.53	< .001
Left inferior frontal gyrus (46)	-58, 38, 4			8.04	3.49	< .001
Right declive	40, -64, -24	19	.17	8.04	3.49	< .001
Left superior parietal lobule (7)	-32, -52, 64	28	.10	7.51	3.40	<.001
Left tuber	-40, -70, -28	23	.13	7.49	3.40	< .001
Left insula (13)	-40, -2, 16	6	.44	7.46	3.40	< .001
Left thalamus	-10, -14, 0	14	.24	7.28	3.37	< .001
Right lentiform nucleus (putamen)	32, 2, -4	12	.27	7.09	3.33	< .001

Left superior temporal gyrus (22)	-46, -38, 2	18	.18	6.98	3.31	<.001
Left superior temporal gyrus (39)	-42, -48, 8	5	.48	6.83	3.28	.001

Note. Coordinates represent peak voxel coordinates in millimeters; For clarity, only clusters with at least five voxels were listed in the

table; BA = Brodmann area; Height threshold T: 5.89 (p < .001 uncorrected at the voxel level).

Clusters statistically significantly more activated in response to neutral images vs. baseline in participants with insomnia at V1

		Cluster-l	evel		Peak-lev	rel
Brain region	Coordinates	Cluster size	puncorrected	t	ZE	puncorrected
(BA)	(x, y, z)	(voxels)				
Left culmen	-34, -60, -32	44881	<.001	15.55	6.44	< .001
Left inferior occipital gyrus (17)	-16, -96, -4			14.93	6.36	< .001
Left fusiform gyrus (37)	-42, -66, -12			14.92	6.35	<.001
Right middle frontal gyrus (9)	42, 40, 22	6913	< .001	11.21	5.72	<.001
Right inferior frontal gyrus (9)	58, 8, 26			9.83	5.41	< .001
Right middle frontal gyrus (9)	38, 34, 26			9.20	5.26	< .001
Left superior frontal gyrus (6)	-6, 6, 64	2885	< .001	8.63	5.10	< .001
Right superior frontal gyrus (8)	10, 24, 50			7.03	4.61	< .001
Left medial frontal gyrus (6)	-4, -4, 76			6.86	4.55	< .001
Left claustrum	-30, 22, -8	26	.24	4.23	3.38	< .001
Left superior parietal lobule (7)	-14, -44, 68	13	.40	4.20	3.36	< .001

Right inferior frontal gyrus (47)	46, 22, -10	5	.62	3.98	3.23	.001
Left culmen	-20, -36, -30	6	.58	3.95	3.22	.001

Note. Coordinates represent peak voxel coordinates in millimeters; For clarity, only clusters with at least five voxels were listed in the

table; BA = Brodmann area; Height threshold T: 3.73 (p < .001 uncorrected at the voxel level).

Clusters statistically significantly more activated in response to negative images vs. baseline in good sleepers at V1

		Cluster-level		Peak-level		
Brain region	Coordinates	Cluster size	puncorrected	t	ZE	puncorrected
(BA)	(x, y, z)	(voxels)				
Left middle occipital gyrus (18)	-26, -94, 16	2165	<.001	64.14	5.64	< .001
Right lingual gyrus (17)	24, -86, 8			35.35	5.10	< .001
Right cuneus (17)	24, -90, 16			27.68	4.86	<.001
Left inferior parietal lobule (40)	-46, -46, 56	383	<.001	50.06	5.42	< .001
Left inferior parietal lobule (40)	-50, -38, 48			30.96	4.97	<.001
Left inferior parietal lobule (39)	-30, -58, 46			12.45	4.02	< .001
Left lingual gyrus (18)	-4, -72, 2	190	<.001	22.41	4.65	< .001
Right lingual gyrus (18)	4, -82, 8			19.89	4.53	<.001
Left culmen	-6, -60, -8			13.18	4.08	<.001
Left culmen	-34, -50, 20	797	< .001	19.77	4.52	<.001
Left culmen	-26, -44, -24			15.64	4.27	< .001

Left declive	-42, -72, -14			15.51	4.26	< .001
Right middle frontal gyrus (9)	46, 26, 26	103	.002	17.65	4.40	< .001
Right middle frontal gyrus (9)	40, 32, 24			13.00	4.06	< .001
Right middle frontal gyrus (9)	48, 36, 30			10.62	3.83	< .001
Left inferior semi-lunar lobule	-4, -78, -40	64	.01	15.85	4.29	< .001
Right inferior semi-lunar lobule	6, -78, -42			12.99	4.06	< .001
Right uvula	8, -82, -32			10.76	3.85	< .001
Right thalamus (medial dorsal	6, -10, 0	255	< .001	14.34	4.18	< .001
nucleus)						
Right putamen	18, 6, 4			10.69	3.84	< .001
Right red nucleus	10, -22, -10			9.56	3.70	< .001
Right culmen	26, -40, -24	543	< .001	14.33	4.18	< .001
Right culmen	32, -46, -28			11.46	3.92	< .001
Right culmen	14, -46, -20			9.32	3.67	< .001
Left inferior frontal gyrus (47)	-46, 28, -12	43	.04	13.43	4.10	< .001
Right fusiform gyrus (37)	48, -60, -16	285	< .001	13.33	4.09	< .001

Right fusiform gyrus (37)	38, -48, -10			10.21	3.78	< .001
Right parahippocampus (19)	38, -60, -4			9.49	3.70	< .001
Left cerebellar tonsil	-26, -54, -42	24	.10	12.41	4.01	< .001
Left cerebellar tonsil	-18, -56, -44			6.76	3.27	.001
Left thalamus (ventral lateral	-18, -8, 8	400	< .001	11.87	3.96	< .001
nucleus)						
Left thalamus	-10, -14, 0			10.06	3.77	< .001
Left lentiform nucleus (lateral globus	-26, -14, -2			8.31	3.53	< .001
pallidus)						
Left superior frontal gyrus (10)	-40, 52, 14	23	.11	11.78	3.95	< .001
Left cerebellar tonsil	-18, -64, -40	47	.03	11.51	3.93	< .001
Left middle frontal gyrus (6)	-42, 4, 56	14	.20	10.21	3.78	< .001
Left precentral gyrus (6)	-40, 0, 40	20	.13	10.02	3.76	< .001
Right tuber	40, -64, -26	36	.05	9.54	3.70	< .001
Right lingual gyrus (18)	16,68, 0	6	.41	8.65	3.58	< .001
Left precentral gyrus (9)	-46, 26, 36	22	.12	8.61	3.58	< .001

Left lentiform nucleus (putamen)	-16, 6, 6	10	.28	7.62	3.42	<.001
Right thalamus	22, -28, 0	32	.06	7.32	3.37	<.001
Left lingual gyrus (18)	-20, -78, -2	5	.45	7.13	3.34	< .001
Left parahippocampus (27)	-26, -30, -4	11	.26	7.12	3.34	< .001
Left fusiform gyrus (37)	-54, -68, -12	8	.34	6.98	3.31	<.001
Right thalamus	10, -30, -6	5	.45	6.98	3.31	< .001

Note. Coordinates represent peak voxel coordinates in millimeters; For clarity, only clusters with at least five voxels were listed in the

table; BA = Brodmann area; Height threshold T: 5.89 (p < .001 uncorrected at the voxel level).

Clusters statistically significantly more activated in response to negative images vs. baseline in participants with insomnia at V1

		Cluster-level		Peak-level		
Brain region	Coordinates	Cluster size	puncorrected	t	ZE	puncorrected
(BA)	(x, y, z)	(voxels)				
Left declive	-42, -68, -12	36637	<.001	15.12	6.38	< .001
Right culmen	36, -46, -22			15.08	6.38	< .001
Left fusiform gyrus (37)	-48, -62, -14			14.16	6.24	<.001
Right middle frontal gyrus (9)	40, 36, 22	4143	< .001	12.23	5.91	<.001
Right subthalamic nucleus	16, -16, -6			7.85	4.87	<.001
Right middle frontal gyrus (10)	40, 50, 18			6.44	4.39	<.001
Left superior frontal gyrus (6)	-6, 6, 66	1306	< .001	9.27	5.27	< .001
Left superior frontal gyrus (6)	-4, -2, 72			6.24	4.31	<.001
Right cingulate gyrus (32)	10, 24, 28			5.43	3.98	<.001
Left middle temporal gyrus (21)	-48, -32, -4	231	.003	7.09	4.63	<.001
Left middle temporal gyrus (22)	-52, -46, 2			6.01	4.22	< .001

Brain stem	-2, -26, -26	143	.01	6.59	4.45	< .001
Right middle frontal gyrus (10)	48, 52, -6	141	.01	5.32	3.93	< .001
Right middle frontal gyrus (10)	42, 54, 4			3.94	3.21	.001
Right inferior frontal gyrus (46)	54, 48, 4			3.91	3.20	.001
Left cingulate gyrus (24)	-12, 18, 30	37	.17	4.33	3.43	<.001
Left cingulate gyrus (32)	-8, 24, 24			4.13	3.32	< .001
Left medial frontal gyrus (6)	-8, -6, 50	33	.20	4.22	3.37	<.001
Left medial frontal gyrus (6)	-2, 10, 50	11	.46	3.92	3.20	.001
Left middle temporal gyrus (21)	-46, 2, -34	6	.59	3.91	3.20	.001

Note. Coordinates represent peak voxel coordinate in millimeters; For clarity, only clusters with at least five voxels were listed in the table; BA = Brodmann area; Height threshold T: 3.73 (p < .001 uncorrected at the voxel level).

Clusters statistically significantly more activated in response to sleep images vs. baseline in good sleepers at V1

	Cluster-level		Peak-level			
Brain region	Coordinates	Cluster size	puncorrected	t	ZE	puncorrected
(BA)	(x, y, z)	(voxels)				
Left middle occipital gyrus (18)	-28, -96, 16	616	< .001	28.69	4.90	< .001
Left lingual gyrus (17)	-6, -96, -2			28.08	4.88	<.001
Left lingual gyrus (18)	-12, -90, -2			21.90	4.63	<.001
Left inferior frontal gyrus (47)	-42, 36, -8	46	.03	16.37	4.32	<.001
Right lingual gyrus (17)	24, -88, 10	157	< .001	15.54	4.26	<.001
Left cerebellar tonsil	-22, -54, -46	44	.04	15.37	4.25	<.001
Left cerebellar tonsil	-12, -60, -44			9.46	3.69	<.001
Left cerebellar tonsil	-22, -62, -40			6.86	3.29	.001
Right thalamus	12, -14, 2	34	.06	12.77	4.05	<.001
Left claustrum	-34, 4, -6	228	<.001	12.68	4.04	< .001

Left lentiform nucleus	-24, -6, 2			8.54	3.57	< .001
(putamen)						
Left lentiform nucleus	-30, -18, -2			7.32	3.37	< .001
(putamen)						
Left inferior parietal lobule (40)	-44, -46, 52	49	.03	10.65	3.83	< .001
Right inferior semi-lunar lobule	28, -68, -44	19	.15	10.02	3.76	< .001
Right cerebellar tonsil	18, -58, -42	65	.01	9.28	3.67	< .001
Right cerebellar tonsil	14, -64, -38			8.49	3.56	< .001
Left middle frontal gyrus (8)	-48, 30, 36	11	.26	8.80	3.60	< .001
Right middle occipital gyrus	38, -84, 26	10	.29	8.71	3.59	< .001
(19)						
Left angular gyrus (39)	-30, -56, 44	35	.06	8.55	3.57	< .001
Left thalamus (mammillary	-12, -16, 0	25	.10	8.37	3.54	< .001
body)						
Right lingual gyrus (18)	36, -78, -6	18	.16	8.27	3.53	< .001
Left declive	-40, -72, -14	18	.16	7.65	3.43	< .001

Left cerebellar tonsil	-14, -66, -36	15	.19	7.63	3.43	<.001
Right lentiform nucleus	20, 4, 0	39	.05	7.60	3.42	< .001
(putamen)						
Right thalamus (ventral anterior	16, 0, 6			5.97	3.11	.001
nucleus)						
Left claustrum	-26, 20, 0	9	.31	7.34	3.37	< .001
Right culmen	26, -42, -26	17	.17	6.82	3.28	.001
Right parahippocampus (19)	38, -60, -4	10	.29	6.68	3.25	.001
Left caudate	-8, 6, 6	5	.45	6.52	3.22	.001
Left culmen	-34, -52, -24	5	.45	6.19	3.16	.001

Note. Coordinates represent peak voxel coordinates in millimeters; For clarity, only clusters with at least five voxels were listed in the

table; BA = Brodmann area; Height threshold T: 5.89 (p < .001 uncorrected at the voxel level).

Clusters statistically significantly more activated in response to sleep images vs. baseline in participants with insomnia at V1

		Cluste	Cluster-level		Peak-level		
Brain region	Coordinates	Cluster size	puncorrected	t	ZE	puncorrected	
(BA)	(x, y, z)	(voxels)					
Left culmen	-34, -54, -26	26443	<.001	18.09	6.76	< .001	
Left cerebellar tonsil	-32, -62, -34			17.16	6.65	< .001	
Right declive	16, -70, -24			16.19	6.53	<.001	
Right middle frontal gyrus (9)	54, 28, 26	3284	< .001	10.92	5.66	<.001	
Right middle frontal gyrus (9)	28, 34, 26			10.11	5.48	<.001	
Right precentral gyrus (9)	42, 28, 34			7.13	4.64	< .001	
Right substantia nigra	18, -16, -6	1335	< .001	9.31	5.28	<.001	
Right thalamus (ventral anterior	16, -6, 8			9.02	5.21	<.001	
nucleus)							
Right lentiform nucleus (putamen)	30, -24, -2			8.50	5.07	<.001	
Left superior frontal gyrus (6)	-10, 26, 52	2142	< .001	8.98	5.20	< .001	

Left superior frontal gyrus (6)	-6, 6, 66			8.51	5.07	< .001
Right medial frontal gyrus (8)	4, 38, 38			7.67	4.82	< .001
Left supramarginal gyrus (40)	-58, -50, 28	96	.03	5.26	3.90	< .001
Left medial frontal gyrus (6)	-6, -8, 52	70	.05	4.61	3.58	<.001
Left cingulate gyrus (24)	-6, -2, 44			4.46	3.51	< .001
Left inferior frontal gyrus (47)	-36, 26, -18	6	.56	4.38	3.46	<.001
Left posterior cingulate gyrus (29)	-4, -40, 16	9	.47	4.37	3.46	<.001
Left middle temporal gyrus (21)	-46, 0, -36	15	.34	4.35	3.44	<.001
Left superior temporal gyrus (38)	-52, 8, -18	12	.40	4.25	3.39	<.001
Left middle frontal gyrus (10)	-34, 62, 14	7	.53	4.23	3.38	<.001
Left inferior frontal gyrus (47)	-34, 22, -10	16	.33	4.18	3.35	<.001
Right supramarginal gyrus (40)	64, -44, 28	7	.53	4.13	3.32	<.001
Left cingulate gyrus (32)	10, 22, 32	18	.30	4.08	3.29	<.001
Right lentiform nucleus (putamen)	34, 0, 4	25	.22	4.02	3.26	.001
Right lentiform nucleus (putamen)	32, 2, -4			3.84	3.16	.001
Left superior parietal lobule (7)	-14, -44, 68	8	.50	3.88	3.18	.001

Note. Coordinates represent peak voxel coordinates in millimeters; For clarity, only clusters with at least five voxels were listed in the table; BA = Brodmann area; Height threshold T: 3.73 (p < .001 uncorrected at the voxel level).

Appendix G: Data about Brain Activity Predicting Change in Subjective Sleep Measures

Table G1

Results for BA39 Activity Predicting Change in Number of Awakenings With an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA39 Activity	1	6.18	6.18	12.51	.00	0.32
Group	1	6.34	6.34	12.84	.00	0.33
BA39	1	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00
Activity*Group						
Residuals	14	6.92	0.49			

Note. BA39: Brodmann area 39
Results for BA39 Activity Predicting Change in Number of Awakenings Without an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA39 Activity	1	6.18	6.18	13.41	.00	0.32
Group	1	6.34	6.34	13.75	.00	0.33
Residuals	15	6.92	0.46			

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA39 Activity	1	0.51	0.51	2.19	.16	0.09
Group	1	1.78	1.78	7.62	.02	0.30
BA39	1	0.34	0.34	1.47	.25	0.06
Activity*Group						
Residuals	14	3.27	0.23			

Results for BA39 Activity Predicting Change in Total Sleep Time With an Interaction

Results for BA39 Activity Predicting Change in Total Sleep Time Without an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA39 Activity	1	0.51	0.51	2.13	.17	0.09
Group	1	1.78	1.78	7.39	.02	0.30
Residuals	15	3.62	0.24			

Brodmann area 39 (BA39) activity predicting change in sleep onset latency



Activity in the left angular gyrus (BA39) at V1

Note. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group





Activity in the left angular gyrus (BA39) at V1

Note. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group





Activity in the left angular gyrus (BA39) at V1

Note. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

-1.0



0

Activity in the left angular gyrus (BA39) at V1

0.0

•

Т

0.2

Brodmann area (BA39) activity predicting change in sleep quality

Note. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

Т

-0.2

ТΧ

WL

Т

0.4

- O -

Results for BA6 Activity Predicting Change in Number of Awakenings With an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA6 Activity	1	0.00	0.00	0.01	.95	0.00
Group	1	8.06	8.06	9.96	.01	0.41
BA6	1	0.06	0.06	0.07	.79	0.00
Activity*Group						
Residuals	14	11.32	0.81			

Results for BA6 Activity Predicting Change in Number of Awakenings Without an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA6 Activity	1	0.00	0.00	0.01	.95	0.00
Group	1	8.06	8.06	10.62	.01	0.41
Residuals	15	11.38	0.76			

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA6 Activity	1	0.48	0.48	2.41	.14	0.08
Group	1	2.15	2.15	10.92	.01	0.36
BA6	1	0.52	0.52	2.63	.13	0.09
Activity*Group						
Residuals	14	2.76	0.20			

Results for BA6 Activity Predicting Change in Total Sleep Time With an Interaction

Results for BA6 Activity Predicting Change in Total Sleep Time Without an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA6 Activity	1	0.48	0.48	2.18	.16	0.08
Group	1	2.15	2.15	9.85	.01	0.36
Residuals	15	3.28	0.22			

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA6 Activity	1	312.70	312.70	4.97	.04	0.19
Group	1	453.40	453.40	7.21	.02	0.27
BA6	1	4.60	4.60	0.07	.79	0.00
Activity*Group						
Residuals	14	880.40	62.90			

Results for BA6 Activity Predicting Change in Sleep Efficiency With an Interaction

Source	df	SS	MS	F	р	η^2
BA6 Activity	1	312.70	312.70	5.30	.04	0.19
Group	1	453.40	453.40	7.69	.01	0.27
Residuals	15	885.00	59.00			

Results for BA6 Activity Predicting Change in Sleep Efficiency Without an Interaction





Activity in the left middle frontal gyrus (BA6) at V1

Note. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group

Brodmann area 6 (BA6) activity predicting change in duration of awakenings



Activity in the left middle frontal gyrus (BA6) at V1

Note. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group





Activity in the left middle frontal gyrus (BA6) at V1

Note. TX: immediate treatment group; WL: wait-list control group